07/806-Final VKM Report 2008: 23



Opinion of the Panel on Animal Health and Welfare of the Norwegian Scientific Committee for Food Safety

14 May 2008

Transportation of fish within a closed system

ISBN: 978-82-8082-242-0

Contents

1. Key words	6
2. Contributors	6
3. Assessed by	6
4. Acknowledgements	7
5. Terms of reference	7
6. Interpretation of the mandate	7
7. Background	8
7.1 The live fish transport industry in Norway	9
7.1.1 The truck fleet	9
7.1.2 The well boat fleet	9
7.2 The welfare issue	11
7.2.1 Fish welfare during transport	11
7.2.2 Fish welfare, transport stress and harvest quality	11
7.3 Operational welfare indicators in question for closed transport	12
7.4 The stress concept	12
7.4.1 Stress during transport	14
7.4.2 Cortisol levels during closed transport	16
7.5 Critical water quality parameters at high fish density and low	
specific waterflow	18
7.5.1 Oxygen (O_2)	18
7.5.2 Carbon dioxide (CO_2)	19
7.5.3 TAN – Total Ammonia Nitrogen $(NH_4^+ + NH_3)$	19
7.5.4 The creation of foam in marine transport water	20
7.6 Fish metabolism and the impact on water quality in a closed	
transport system	21
7.6.1 The buffering capacity of water	24
7.6.2 Maximum levels of metabolites in transport water and transport	
length	25
7.6.3 Monitoring of water quality during closed transports	27
7.6.4 System for monitoring of water quality in closed transport	28
7.6.5 Water treatment	28
7.7 Starvation before transportation	29
7.8 Sedation	31
7.8.1 The use of other sedatives during transport	31
7.8.2 Self inductance CO_2 –sedation during closed transport	32
7.9 Remarks on critical operations in closed fish transports	34
7.9.1 The importance of information and experience	35
7.9.2 Preparation for transport	35
7.9.4 United time	36
7.9.5 Emergency situations	37
7.9.5 Emergency situations	51
1.9.0 Auditional comments for operations in transporting smolt and	20
Iry	38

7.10 Transport of Marine fish	40
7.10.1 Atlantic cod	40
7.10.2 Turbot and halibut	41
8. Assessment	43
8.1 Question no 1	43
8.2 Question no 2	44
8.3 Question no 3	44
8.4 Question no 4	45
8.5 Question no 5	46
9. Conclusions	46
9.1 Future needs	48
9.2 Knowledge needs	48
10. References	49
11. Appendix I	61
11.1.1 OWI - Physiology	61
11.1.2 OWI - Behaviour	61
11.1.3 OWI - Health	61
11.1.4 OWI - Operation	62
12. Appendix II	63

Summary

There are no exact statistics for transportation of farmed fish, but fish are at least transported twice during their lifetime; once from hatchery to growing sites and secondly to slaughter stations. Thus, the production data of farmed fish gives an indication of the amount of fish being transported. In 2007, Norway produced 750.000 tons Atlantic salmon, 80.000 tons rainbow trout and 12.000 tons Atlantic cod (Directorate of Fisheries 2007). The number of transported fish is increasing mainly due to increased production and to centralisation of slaughter houses. In Norway, well boats are the most common way to transport fish, but trucks are also used for transportation of fingerlings and smolt. Transportation of live fish by air is less common for economical reasons.

Recently, regulations and restrictions due to occurrence of infectious diseases have to some extent required that more fish have to be transported in closed systems. Regulations concerning transportation of aquatic animals are presently being evaluated by the Norwegian Food Safety Authority.

The Norwegian Food Safety Authority asked the Norwegian Scientific Committee for Food Safety (Vitenskapskomiteen for mattrygghet, VKM) to conduct a risk assessment on the transportation of fish in a closed system and have put 5 specific questions to the committee. The questions to be answered were:

- 1) Which circumstance or circumstances might put the fishes' welfare at risk? If several such circumstances exist, do these evolve independently of one another or do they influence one another in any manner?
- 2) Do problems occur after a specific period of time in the transport container, or will the time lapse before the onset of problems be dependent on various specific factors?
- 3) Is it possible to prevent the occurrence of circumstances that compromise the welfare of the fish? If so, outline the necessary or relevant measures applicable.
- 4) Does the reduction in water temperature in itself have a negative welfare implication? Could the reduction in water temperature result in the reactions of the fish becoming difficult or impossible to observe, and thus make the interpretation of their welfare status more difficult?
- 5) Can the water temperature be reduced in such a manner that the welfare of the fish is not put at risk?

VKM appointed an *ad hoc* group consisting of both VKM members (Panel 8, Panel on Animal Health and Welfare) and external experts to answer the request from the Norwegian Food Safety Authority. The report from the *ad hoc* group has been evaluated and approved by Panel 8 of VKM.

The Panel on Animal Health and Welfare is of the opinion that transportation of life fish will always imply some kind of risk. The fitness of the fish will have great impact on the risks associated with transportation. Sick or immunocompromized fish will be extremely vulnerable and should not be transported. Care should be taken to minimize handling stress prior to and during transportation.

Open system transportation is generally considered to be less risky than transportation in closed systems. However, the risks connected with closed systems can to a greater extend be subject to calculations and modelling than risks in opens systems. This is because the open system is exposed to ambient environment and its natural fluctuations in temperature and changes in water chemistry.

Scientific data on large scale closed systems are few, and risk modelling depend to a large extend on empiric data from the industry and experiments conducted in laboratory facilities.

Transportation in closed systems requires water treatment, as well as systems for observation of fish and monitoring of water quality. Consequently, well trained crew and skills to handle emergency situations are needed.

The metabolism of the fish will influence the water chemistry and thus the welfare of the fish during transportation. With the exception of very young fish (larvae), all fish should be starved at least for a period of three to five days before as well as under transportation.

It is difficult to give exact upper safe limits for water chemistry parameters, since many of the parameters interact in a complicated manner. However, some figures derived from industry experience exist and they are included in this report. These values should be used with care and considered as guidelines.

Oxygen, carbon dioxide and TAN represent limiting factors during closed transports. While elevated carbon dioxide often is a first limiting factor in the transport water, it can be degassed by increased dimensions of water treatment system. There is, however, a risk that the gained improvement in water quality is used for optimising transport biomass, and thereby risks for elevated TAN and pH, and eventually toxic un-ionised ammonia. In closed transportations of salmon fingerlings and smolt, the concentration of CO_2 should be below 20 mg/L. At transportation of fish for slaughter with chilled water, the light sedation due to accumulation of CO_2 is considered beneficial. Thus, a higher concentration of CO_2 up to 30 mg could be accepted. This will depend on biomass, temperature and duration of transportation.

It is not possible to give an exact limit for the maximum transportation time in a closed system. This will depend on fish species, density, and temperature and water treatment in the transport unit. Transportation in closed systems should be as short as possible, both in distance and time, while extended transportations should be performed with reduced biomasses. By adding seawater to reach a salinity of 1 %, the buffer capacity in fresh water will increase and the risks associated with accumulation of CO₂ and mixing of different water qualities will to some extent be reduced. Necessarily treatment of the seawater must be applied.

Accumulation of CO_2 and TAN is faster in warmer water in the autumn when 0+ smolts are transported. The risk for the fish welfare problems is thus probably higher for transportation of 0+ smolts than in 1+ smolts due to weather and climatic conditions. Field data suggest that the toxicity of nitrogenous wastes and CO_2 can be reduced to a certain degree by keeping oxygen concentration around 100 %. The risk can be avoided by proper planning.

A lowering of the water temperature during transportation can reduce the impact of several factors on fish physiology and welfare. The temperature reduction must be carried out with great care and is recommended not to exceed 1, 5 °C/hr. For Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, the transportation temperature should not aim to be below 6 °C.

Most of the information used in the assessment is either based on small scale laboratory studies or on industry derived experience. There is a clear need for more scientific based knowledge on most of the aspects related to transportation of live fish in closed systems.

1. Key words

Transport of fish, animal welfare, water quality, water chemistry parameters, well boats,

2. Contributors

Persons working for VKM, either as appointed members of the Committee or as *ad hoc*-experts, do this by virtue of their scientific expertise, not as representatives for his/her employers. The Civil Services Act instructions on legal competence apply for all work prepared by VKM.

The Norwegian Scientific Committee for Food Safety (Vitenskapskomiteen for mattrygghet, VKM) has appointed an *ad hoc* group consisting of both VKM members and external experts to answer the request from the Norwegian Food Safety Authority.

The members of the *ad hoc* group are:

VKM members

Brit Hjeltnes (Chair), Panel on Animal Health and Welfare

Rune Waagbø, Panel on Animal Health and Welfare

External experts:

Bengt Finstad, Norwegian Institute for Nature Research, NINA

Bjørn Olav Rosseland, Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Trond Rosten, Norwegian Institute for Water Research (NIVA)

Sigurd Stefansson, University of Bergen

3. Assessed by

The report from the *ad hoc* group has been evaluated and approved by Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (Panel 8) of VKM.

Panel on Animal Health and Welfare:

Wenche Farstad (chair), Bjarne O. Braastad, Knut E. Bøe, Arne Flåøyen, Brit Hjeltnes, Kristian Hoel, Tore Håstein, Espen Rimstad, Rune Waagbø and Olav Østerås

Scientific Coordinators from the Secretariat: Ingfrid Slaatto Næss

4. Acknowledgements

The members of the *ad hoc* group; Brit Hjeltnes, Rune Waagbø, Bengt Finstad, Bjørn Olav Rosseland, Trond Rosten and Sigurd Stefansson, are acknowledged for their valuable work on this opinion.

5. Terms of reference

The Norwegian Food Safety Authority requests that the following aspects be assessed in connection with transports operating with closed systems encompassing also those transports that occur with a reduction in water temperature and those that do not: There is a need to differentiate between transports that make use of fresh water and those that use sea water and also where it is deemed necessary, between transports in well boats and lorries. (It is possible for well boats to open their valves during transport. The resultant change in salinity needs only to occur in small pockets of transport water and such varying salinity is considered unfortunate from a fish welfare point of view.)

1) Which circumstance or circumstances might put the fishes' welfare at risk? If several such circumstances exist, do these evolve independently of one another or do they influence one another in any manner?

2) Do problems occur after a specific period of time in the transport container, or will the time lapse before the onset of problems be dependent on various specific factors?

3) Is it possible to prevent the occurrence of circumstances that compromise the welfare of the fish? If so, outline the necessary or relevant measures applicable.

4) Does the reduction in water temperature in itself have a negative welfare implication? Could the reduction in water temperature result in the reactions of the fish becoming difficult or impossible to observe, and thus make the interpretation of their welfare status more difficult?

5) Can the water temperature be reduced in such a manner that the welfare of the fish is not put at risk?

This commission is limited to Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Where knowledge exists concerning the species Atlantic halibut, (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*), turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) and wolf fish (*Anarhichas minor*) it would be useful if this knowledge also is evaluated. The Norwegian Food Safety Authority expects that most of the scientific data concern salmon and rainbow trout, but it would be advantageous to know the risk attached to lorry transportations of turbot fry from Spain to Norway of long duration (3 days with chilled water temperatures).

6. Interpretation of the mandate

This assessment focuses on the transportation of Atlantic salmon, rainbow trout and Atlantic cod. Only limited information on other species is included. Transportation assessed is movements of live fish from hatcheries to nursery or on growing sites and for slaughter. Transportation of eggs is not

considered and minor transportation of fish within the hatchery is not assessed. Furthermore, traditional transport of fish for cultivation purposes carried out in sealed plastic bags with O₂ and transportation of ornamental fish is not assessed. The main focus has been on Atlantic salmon since this is the most important cultured species in Norway. Transportation by air is not assessed in depth since there is limited information available. Definitions of welfare often have either a feeling-, nature-or function based approach (FSBI 2000, Fraser 2004, Duncan 2004). Agreement on how to correctly and best define welfare has shown to be difficult (Wolfrom T 2004). The function-based approach analyses the animals coping with the environment, or, as Broom (1986) quotes, "the welfare of an animal is its state as regards its attempts to cope with its environment". This definition is based on the assumption that the animal tries to maintain homeostasis, equilibrium, in its physiological system. It is mainly this approach that has been used in this report.

7. Background

There are no exact statistics for transportation of fish, but fish are at least transported twice during their lifetime; once from hatchery to growing sites and secondly to slaughter houses. Thus, the production data of farmed fish gives an indication of the amount of fish being transported. In 2007, Norway produced 750.000 tons Atlantic salmon, 80.000 tons rainbow trout and 12.000 tons Atlantic cod (Directorate of Fisheries 2007). The number of fish transported is increasing mainly due to increased production and to centralisation of slaughter stations. In Norway, well boats are the most common way to transport fish, but trucks are also used for transportation of fingerlings and smolt. Transportation of live fish by air is less common for economical reasons. Recently, regulations and restrictions due to occurrence of infectious diseases have to some extent required that more fish have to be transported in closed systems. Regulations for transportation of aquatic animals are presently being evaluated by the Norwegian Food Safety Authority.

The Norwegian Food Safety Authority asked the Norwegian Scientific Committee for Food Safety (Vitenskapskomiteen for mattrygghet, VKM) to conduct a risk assessment on the transportation of fish in a closed system. VKM appointed an *ad hoc* group consisting of both VKM members (Panel 8, Panel on Animal Health and Welfare) and external experts to answer the request from the Norwegian Food Safety Authority. The report from the *ad hoc* group has been evaluated and approved by Panel 8 of VKM.

All transportation of fish will to some extent induce stress, related to factors like changes in water chemistry, pH, temperature, foaming, loading and unloading, transportation time and biomass.

Boats and trucks used for transportation of live fish normally carry containers designed to keep the fish alive. In boats the live fish container is called a well, and this well is connected to a system of pipes and pumps for recirculation of transport water. While recirculation systems are common in well boats, these are also found in modern trucks. In the regulation (Mattilsynet 2007), the well, pumps and pipes are defined as the transport system, which also includes water oxygenation equipment. The regulation includes specific rules for approval, washing and disinfection of transport systems. Both trucks and well boats will normally supply extra oxygen to the fish during loading, transport and unloading. Several systems for oxygen supply are used. Degassers for water carbon dioxide (CO_2) and nitrogen (N_2) are not standard equipment in all vessels, but are common on vessels specialized on closed transport. Ozone gas produced by a generator on-vessel seems to be the preferred solution for disinfection of large scale modern well boats. This is due to economical and efficiency considerations. A few well boats are equipped with refrigerated seawater (RSW) cooling system for the transport water. Furthermore, some boats are equipped with specially designed water and oxygenation distribution system in the well, to ensure a more optimized current, but the most common flow through systems moves water from front to back of the boat through valves. The water exchange in most well boats can be controlled by the opening of the valves, the speed of the vessel and/or by using large circulation pumps. In trucks, water exchange must be carried out by water tapping and refilling.

Cooling of the transport water is in most cases applied commercially to reduce the metabolism of the fish and thereby delay the deterioration of the transport water in closed systems.

7.1 The live fish transport industry in Norway

An official list of approved vessels for live fish transport is presented by the Norwegian Food Safety Authority (<u>http://mattilsynet.no/fisk/godkjente_produkter_virksomheter</u>). The list shows that there is 89 approved vessels for live fish transport at the moment.

7.1.1 The truck fleet

There is no segregation of trucks and boats form the list of approved vessels, but based upon comments by Paul Nergaard from Norwegian Food Safety Authority (pers. comm) there are 7 trucks approved for live fish transport in Norway. A common size of the fish containers on a truck is $1 - 5 \text{ m}^3$. There are often several fish containers and a total transport volume on a truck with trailer is often $20 - 30 \text{ m}^3$. No detailed information about on the water treatment, surveillance technology and competence levels on these trucks have been available.

7.1.2 The well boat fleet

The Norwegian well boat fleet is estimated to 136 boats of very different age, equipment, size and well volume. At present, it seems that 82 of these boats are approved for live fish transport. The first Norwegian well boats were originally fishing vessels used for live transport of saithe (*Pollachius virens*) and cod. In the 70'ties, well boats came into common use in transportation of farmed salmonids. Table 1 shows the numbers and age in the Norwegian fleet up to year 2010. A large proportion of the fleet was built in the years between 1995 and 2000. Approximately ten vessels of large size (499 – 2043 m³ volume of fish well) have been built during the later years, and 5 more are contracted up to year 2010. (Bjørn Atle Krohn Johansen, Shipping publications, pers. comm.). Included these new boats, another 20.500 m³ capacity is added to the Norwegian fleet since 2002.

The technical standard of the vessels may contribute to the risk associated with the transport of fish in general and specifically for transport on closed system.

Building year	No of boats	% of fleet
2010	1	0,7
2009	2	1,5
2008	2	1,5
2007	3	2,2
2006	3	2,2
2005	0	0
2004	1	0,7
2003	4	2,9
2002	4	2,9
2001	8	5,9
1995-2000	34	25
1990-1995	6	4,4
1970-1990	18	13,2
1950-1970	37	27,2
1900-1950	12	8,8
1800-	2	1,5
Total	136	100

Table 1. The composition of the Norwegian well boat fleet in 2008 (Shipping publications)

 Table 2. The size distribution of the well boat fleet (Shipping publications)

Capacity (m ³)	No boats	% of fleet	Total capacity	% of capacity
1300 -2250	2	1,6	4284	12,5
1000 - 1300	7	5,4	8106	23,6
500-1000	7	5,4	4889	14,2
400-500	6	4,7	2 740	8,0
300-400	15	11,6	5 020	14,6
200-300	19	14,7	4 247	12,4
100-200	29	22,5	4 252	12,4
50-100	8	6,2	571	1,7
<50	7	5,4	263	0,8
No info	29	22,5	0	0,0
Total	136	100	34 372	100

7.2 The welfare issue

7.2.1 Fish welfare during transport

Since the Brambell Committee Report postulated the "five freedoms" in 1965, animal welfare has been a subject of intense public and scientific debate. Attitudes towards animal welfare are rapidly changing. In particular, the welfare of fish is increasingly brought to the forefront of public concern (Pottinger, 1995; Rose, 2002; Braithwaite and Huntingford, 2004; Chandroo et al., 2004; Sneddon, 2004; Ashly 2007; Branson 2008). Some authors have concentrated on identifying conditions that must be fulfilled if an animal's welfare is to be considered acceptable. Even still under debate suggested welfare criteria for fish are freedom from severe (long lasting) stress, suffering and pain. However, Dawkins (2004) summarizes different aspects of welfare by introducing the view that one should only ask two questions in order to describe the welfare of an animal; (1) "is the animal healthy?" and (2) "does the animal get what it wants?". While suffering and pain is not as easy to deal with in fish, stress responses are much better documented in farmed fish species. Rose published his overview article (Rose, 2002), and concluded that fish cannot experience pain and suffering. According to Rose, fish do not have the brain structures necessary to perceive the emotional side of pain. He suggested that the nociceptive activity in the nervous system observed in fish exposed to a potential noxious stimuli, are reflex responses. During the last years though, researchers have now shown that fish do have a nociceptive system such as nociceptors and nerve fibres (Sneddon, 2002, 2003b; Braithwaite and Huntingford, 2004), and that change of behaviour in trout is actually a consequence of noxious stimulation (Sneddon, 2003a; Sneddon et al., 2003; Sneddon, 2004). Stress responses in fish (Donaldson, 1981; Mazeaud and Mazeaud, 1981) including farmed salmon (Pickering, 1992; Pottinger et al., 1992; Fløysand, 1993; Olsen, 1993; Knudsen, 1994; Sverdrup et al., 1994) are well established and primary, secondary and tertiary stress responses occur during a farmed fish's lifetime (Sverdrup, 1994). Physical disturbances during the transport (Sigholt et al., 1995; Erikson et al., 1997; Jittinandana et al., 2005) and slaughter of fish (Azam et al., 1989; Faergemand et al., 1995; Roth, 1997; Robb et al., 2000; Van de Vis et al., 2003) are unavoidable in aquaculture and have potential to induce stress responses that affect meat quality. In general, stressed fish undergo accelerated, post-mortem metabolism and develop softer muscle texture in a manner similar to that off mammals (Jerrett et al., 1996; Jerrett and Holland, 1998; Sigholt et al., 1997). Reducing *ante mortem* stress is important in assuring high quality fillets from cultured fish, and limiting ante mortem struggle is a key component for optimizing slaughter quality as it is in pigs and cattle. On this basis there is reason to believe that there is a good correlation between fish welfare in transport and unloading, stunning and slaughter quality.

There is a need for close attention to the welfare issues for transport in closed systems. Some aspects of particular interest is: fish species, size, life stage and fitness of the fish, handling, water quality, time and temperature, weather conditions, equipment, bio security, human factors (knowledge, experience and training,). The scientific knowledge is limited, even though there is already an established industrial protocol for closed salmon transport approved by Freedom Food in vessels operating in Scotland. There are several years' of practical experience with closed transport in Scotland. Due to this, an operational approach to fish welfare is relevant in this case. A way to group and organize operational welfare indicators is presented in chapter 7.3.

7.2.2 Fish welfare, transport stress and harvest quality

There is a link between pre-rigor time and meat quality (Erikson et al 1998), and a correlation between pre-rigor time and measures of fish welfare (Rosten et al 2004). Dependent on the pre-killing stress response in the salmon, the duration of the pre-rigor period can vary from one to 36 hours. A short-pre rigor time is normally a sign of elevated anaerobic muscle activity prior to slaughter, and this can be regarded as a compromised welfare. Rigor can be measured by dip tail analysis or by assessing the rigor index (Oka et al., 1990). Pre-rigor time up to 18 h (see figure 1) has been reported from field studies on closed transport of adult Atlantic salmon (Rosten et al unpublished data). This indicates that closed and cooled transportation may show welfare advantages compared to open transport, but this is depended upon the whole harvesting and slaughtering process. The advantage of closed transport

might be associated with the sedative effect of mild CO_2 exposure, given sufficient oxygen and slow cooling of the water (see figure 5). The results correspond with practical experiences from Scotland, where fish transported in a closed system with cooling are calmer (pre- stunned) before stunning and bleeding (see also 7.7.1.)



Figure 1. Rigor mortis development from killing (RI=0) until maximum rigor (RI=4) for six adult salmon from loading phase (blue line), after 4h transport before closing valves (light blue line), after 9h transport (4h closed and cooled water) (green), and after 12h transport (7h closed and cooled water) yellow (Rosten et al, unpublished data).

7.3 Operational welfare indicators in question for closed transport

As described in the report on welfare in aquatic animal production by Rosten et al (2007a), the basis for establishing operational welfare indicators (OWIs) is that the indicator must be scientifically sound and validated. However, when scientific data are missing or are scarce, empirical data may be used, although cautiously. When such data obtained through professional experience indicate that a certain factor does have a positive effect on the welfare of the individual animal or group of animals, it is reasonable to try to use this information to create a favourable environment for these animals. Welfare is normally considered individually, but the report suggests that an OWI in aquatic husbandry must also be applicable to a group of fish. Likewise it is suggested to divide the OWIs in two categories;

- I. *Direct* conditions (fish physiology, behaviour and health) that can be observed or recorded in fish individuals or group
- II. *Indirect* (operational or resource based) environmentally defined conditions (physical and chemical)

In Appendix X the OWIs of relevance for closed transport are listed in a more detailed form.

7.4 The stress concept

Stress is defined as a condition in which the dynamic equilibrium of animal organisms called homeostasis is threatened or disturbed as a result of actions of intrinsic or extrinsic stimuli, commonly defined as stressors (Selye 1950, 1973; Schreck 1982; Wendelaar Bonga 1997; Iwama et al., 1997; Portz et al. 2006). Acute stressors produce effects that threaten or disturb the homeostatic equilibrium, and they elicit a coordinated set of behavioural and physiological responses thought to be

compensatory and/or adaptive, enabling the animal to overcome the threat. If an animal is experiencing intense chronic stress, the stress response may loose its adaptive value and become dysfunctional, which may result in inhibition of growth, reproductive failure, and reduced resistance to pathogens. Responses to both acute and chronic stress typically involve all levels of animal organization and are collectively called the integrated stress response (Wendelaar Bonga 1997; Barton 2002; Iversen et al. 2004). Closed transport includes many potential stressors that elicit short or long tem physiological responses, many of which are specified as OWIs in Appendix I.

The general pattern of the stress response tends to be similar whether the challenge has resulted from fish cultural procedures (netting, transportation, disease treatments), water chemistry changes (turbidity, pH, temperature), or changes in behaviour (fright, dominance hierarchies). A convenient paradigm for the stress response is to think of it as occurring in three stages as described in Wedemeyer (1996) and Iwama et al. (2006) This include an initial alarm reaction (primary response) characterised by activated pituitary-interrenal axis with release of catecholamine and corticosteroid hormones. Approximate resting and stressed plasma levels for salmonids are <3 and 20-70 nM for adrenaline and 10 and 150-500 nM for cortisol, respectively (Iwama et al. 2006). The secondary response, or stage of resistance, includes successful compensation and acclimation, often with energy loss and growth retardation. If the stressful challenge has exceeded acclimation tolerance limits, the fish reach the final stage of exhaustion (tertiary response), with maladaptation, immune deprivation, and secondary diseases involving the whole fish population (Iwama et al. 2006).

7.4.1 Stress during transport

Handling

Transportation and handling procedures consists of several potential stressors, such as capture, onloading, transport, unloading, temperature differences, water quality changes and stocking (Iversen et al. 1998, 2003, 2005; Finstad et al. 2003; Portz et al. 2006; Ashley 2007). Handling and transport have been shown to initiate a severe stress response in salmonids (*Salmo* spp and *Oncorhynchus* spp) (Specker and Schreck 1980; Barton and Iwama 1991). Among others, stress related cortisol releases in fish may suppress immunological capacity (Ellis 1981; Schreck et al. 1993; Einarsdóttir et al. 2000), affect seawater tolerance (Iversen et al. 1998; Sandodden et al. 2001), growth (Beitinger 1990; Bernier and Peter 2001) and survival (Barton and Iwama 1991; Wendelaar Bonga 1997).

Crowding

There is a difference between loading and density (Portz et al. 2006). While loading is defined as the weight of fish per unit of flow (kg/l/min), density refers to weight of fish per unit space (kg/m³). Confinement may describe the entire volume of a small tank (Fevolden et al. 2003) or to a restricted net volume within a larger tank (Ruane et al. 1999). When the system is static the fish have a decreased volume for water exchange, potentially affecting water quality and related stress responses. This type of stress is often associated with high stocking densities leading to crowding stress. Short term crowding stress occurs commonly in aquaculture practices; possess characteristics of acute as well as chronic stress with long-term compromised immune systems resulting in disease or death (Portz et al. 2006). Therefore, optimal densities at loading and in transport tanks should always be taken care of regardless of profitability or convenience (Ellis et al., 2002; Portz et al., 2006).

Temperature

Fish are poikilotherms and an increase in ambient temperature will increase their metabolic rate. Thermal stress occurs when the water temperature exceeds the optimal temperature range, with energy demanding stress responses, and potential decrease in individual survivorship (Elliott 1981; Portz et al. 2006). Most fish can gradually acclimate to normal temperature changes but rapid changes in temperature, as may happen under fish loading and transportation, may result in thermal stresses or lethal conditions (Portz et al., 2006). Current knowledge indicate that 6 °C is a lower limit for targeted water cooling (Sigholt and Finstad 1990), while experiences show that salmon can acclimate to 4,5 °C given sufficient time to acclimate (Handeland et al., 2000).

The ion- and osmoregulatory functions may be depressed due to thermal stress (Finstad et al., 1988; Houston and Schrapp 1994). Reduced feed intakes and growth, reduced swimming behaviour, sudden or erratic movements with possible collision with the tank wall or other fishes, increased regurgitation, defecation and gill ventilation are among thermal stress related behaviour (Elliott 1981; Kieffer 2000; Portz et al., 2006). For a more general review on behavioural and physiological effects of water temperature in fish, see Wedemeyer (1996).

Recommendation for short-term holding of fish according to the recent review article by Portz et al. (2006), states that the temperature should be similar to the original source, to avoid thermal shock when the fish are transferred to the holding system (Wedemeyer 1996). For some fish, transportation can be less stressful if it takes place during cooler months or in chilled water (Carmichael et al. 1984; Erickson et al. 1997). Lower water temperatures typically decreases metabolic processes (e.g. oxygen consumption rate, NH₃ excretion rates, activity levels), while water oxygen solubility increases. If fishes are to be transported at a lower temperature, the holding water should be slowly cooled (≤ 1 °C/day) to the desired temperature before transportation (Wedemeyer 1997). Upon arrival to the new destination, the temperature difference between the transportation water and the new holding tank should be minimized. Large deviations in temperatures may hide stress related behaviour responses in fish. In this area there is a need for further knowledge on acceptable lower range temperature

tolerances for commercial species such as salmonids and cod, especially regarding use of low temperature as a stress alleviating factor during transport.

Water quality

A recently published book summarises natural and seasonal variability in freshwater quality in Norway, water quality criteria for salmonids in relation to life history stage, methodology for water treatment, the situation in Norwegian fish farms from raw water to tank water, examples of adverse situations leading to negative fish welfare or mortality with suggested counteracts, as well as experiences from transport of live fish in Norwegian waters (Bjerknes et al. 2007). According to Portz et al. (2006), however, there are many water quality information sources for long term and intensive culture of fishes (Pickering 1981; Adams 2002), but sparse information related to short term holding of fish in confinement. Temperature, dissolved oxygen, ammonia, nitrite, nitrate, salinity, pH, carbon dioxide, alkalinity and hardness in relation to aluminium and iron species are the most common water quality parameters affecting physiological stress (Stefansson et al., 2007). In Portz et al. (2006), water quality variables for different fish species and general water quality recommendations for holding of fishes (modified from Timmons et al. 2002) are given. For salmonids during the last weeks of smoltification, even short episodes of adverse water quality (<3 days of increased aluminium (Al) exposure) could seriously reduce the seawater tolerance (Kroglund et al. 2007) and increase susceptibility for sea lice infestation (Finstad et al. 2007), thereby increasing the vulnerability to transport stress. The effects are clearly linked to an accumulation of Al on gill tissue, documented by reduced Na-K-ATPase activity, increased plasma glucose and reduced plasma chloride with increased gill-Al (Kroglund et al. 2007, Fig 1.) Increased susceptibility to sea lice infestation has also been observed after exposure to 150 % oxygen supersaturation for a short period (≤ 2 weeks) before seawater transfer (Finstad et al, unpublished data).



Figure 2. The concentration of inorganic labile aluminium (LAI) in water and the concentration of Al in gills of Atlantic salmon smolts. The figure shows levels of Al in water and gill leading to physiological reactions prior to seaward migration. A gill concentration > 25 μg Al/g gill dry weight (dw) reduces Na-K-ATPase activity while >300 μg Al/g gill dw results in mortality in freshwater. A gill concentration of >60 μg Al/g gill dw at seaward migration

have resulted in a reduction of return to the home river by 50%. (Data from Kroglund et al. 2007, figure modified by Rosseland 2007).



Figure 3. Increased gill-Al accumulation can be related to acidic raw water, or an effect of humic where organic bound Al is mixed with seawater between 1 -15 ppt, creating an estuarine mixing zone (Rosseland et al. 1998, Staurnes et al., 1998; from Rosseland et al., 2007)

Transport of fish together with humic freshwater from the smolt farm and into a well boat half filled with seawater, can create estuarine mixing zones within the well boat during loading with gill Alaccumulation (Fig. 2). In such cases, the freshwater from the farm tank should be separated from the fish before entering the transport well, loading the fish directly into seawater.

The physiological benefits provided by either the simple or complex mineral salt formulations in transport water are probably mainly due to the protection they afford against life-threatening blood electrolyte losses and ionoregulatory dysfunction that occur when the diuresis stimulated by handling and crowding stress is prolonged (Mazik et al. 1996; Southgate 2008). Survival rates of transported fish can be increased by adding NaCl at 0.5-0.8 % (5-8 g/L) to the transport water (Wedemeyer 1996a; Southgate 2008) and it is also showed that survival is even better if the fish can be allowed to recover in salt-enriched water after release from the transport tank (Mazik et al. 1991). Further, according to Wedemeyer (1996b) more complex mineral formulations have also been developed that are particularly useful in mitigation stress and reducing the mortality of fish transported in water of low total hardness.

With respect to water quality, it is essential to keep an optimal water quality in transport tanks during the whole transport to reduce the stress response, thereby optimizing the wellbeing of the fish and increasing survival and growth after release (Rosten et al., 2006).

7.4.2 Cortisol levels during closed transport

Several conditions in the well will change during a transport with closed system (see figure 1). Water quality, water current and sounds in the boat will change due to the use of pumps and water treatment equipment. It is inevitable that the fish notices these changes and field documentations show that plasma cortisol may increase moderately (see figure 4 and 5). Hauling, grading and loading and

unloading are stressors and the transport period itself *may* be a recovery adaptation phase when handled properly.



Figure 4. Changes in plasma cortisol before and during a 7 hours closed transport of adult salmon with average body weight of 4, 1 kg at a fish density of 118 kg/m^3 (Rosten et al., unpublished data).

For Atlantic salmon parr, Rosten et al., (unpublished data) found that the plasma cortisol during the transport operation changed depending on the length of starvation prior to transport in a closed system. Highest plasma cortisol concentrations were seen after loading and unloading of the salmon parr (see Figure 4).





circles are fish starved 144 hours prior to transport. Fish density was 11, 5 kg/m³ in first transport (filled circles) and 12, 8 kg/m³ in the second transport. CO_2 levels where kept within 2-8 mg L⁻¹. TAN levels reached 450 – 750 ug L⁻¹ during the closed transport. Degassers were used as water treatment (unpublished data from Rosten et al).

7.5 Critical water quality parameters at high fish density and low specific waterflow

7.5.1 Oxygen (O₂)

Intensive smolt production generally involves high biomass, low specific water consumption and the use of oxygen supplementation to ensure enough O_2 in the tanks. Oxygen is often supplied by supersaturating the inlet water and/or tank with O_2 , exposing the fish chronically or acutely to high O_2 levels. By adding pure oxygen to super-saturation, water consumption can be reduced to a minimum. However, this strategy can create serious problems. Firstly, these systems must be backed up by advanced security and control systems, as failure in oxygen supply quickly will cause anoxia and suffocation. On the other hand, there are serious concerns related to toxic effects of oxygen itself.

Oxygenation using pure O_2 gas will create a toxic O_2 environment for the fish, which has nothing to do with gas bubble disease or high gas pressure in itself. Rather, the toxic effects are related to the formation of the free oxygen radical superoxide (O_2^-).

$O_2 \rightarrow O_2$	(1)
${}^{\bullet}O_2 \rightarrow H_2O_2$	(2)
$H_2O_2 \rightarrow HO^{\bullet} + H_2O$	(3)
$HO^{\bullet} \rightarrow H_2O$	(4)

Under normal conditions this is a radical which is formed as part of the aerobic respiration chain. The mechanism of action for O_2^- in water will be partly through direct effects on membrane transport proteins, partly through changes in protein synthesis and partly through oxidation of membrane lipids (Rohn et al. 1996). To counteract such consequences, animals have evolved defence systems which include e.g., the antioxidants vitamin A, C and E, and Glutathione. Recent data show that the partial pressure (PaO₂) in arterial blood of many fish species contain oxygen levels corresponding to no more than 30 % saturation (Massabuau 2001), most likely because the formation of free radicals increases dramatically above this level. Atlantic salmon, however, is not able to reduce PaO₂ to less than 50% of saturation (60-70 % in mean), and at oxygen pressures far above normal, e.g., in case of supersaturation, oxygen partial pressure in blood increases, increasing the formation of free radicals (Kristensen et al. unpublished). Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) may also negatively influence production of erythropoetin (EPO), ie., reduce production of haemoglobin and erythrocytes. At transfer to an environment containing less O_2 (e.g., seawater) this may cause further problems. Recent findings of the low deregulation capability therefore suggest that Atlantic salmon may be equally or more vulnerable to the formation of free radicals caused by hyperoxia compared to other species, unless the salmon has more efficient detoxification systems than other fish species.

Ongoing research is likely to resolve these questions in more detail, but we have enough evidence to warn against to high and long lasting super saturation of oxygen during closed transport.

07/806-Final

7.5.2 Carbon dioxide (CO₂)

Studies have shown that background levels in water sources for more than 100 smolt sites range from 1-2, 5 mg CO_2/L . During dry periods, however, CO_2 rich groundwater may dominate in a water source, and at low temperatures this may cause CO₂ super-saturation which can not easily be removed using traditional aeration methods, CO_2 from the water will come in addition to CO_2 produced by the fish in the rearing unit. Free CO_2 may therefore become a problem in land-based production using addition of oxygen and in closed transport of fish. In situations with sufficient water exchange and without addition of oxygen, O_2 becomes limiting long before CO_2 even approaches critical levels. In intensive production with addition of oxygen and reduced specific water consumption, CO₂ from metabolism may accumulate in the water. CO_2 reacts with water to form H_2CO_3 which dissociates to H^+ and HCO₃⁺, causing a reduction in pH. CO₂ concentration may therefore have both direct and indirect effects on the physiology of fish; it interacts with the important bicarbonate (HCO₃⁺) buffer system and may affect blood pH, acid-base balance and so also hydro-mineral balance (Fivelstad et al 2003). Recent studies have further pointed to negative effects of high CO₂ levels on bone mineralisation (Fivelstad et al 2003). Elevated levels of CO_2 in intensive culture (30 - 40 mg CO_2/L) are a consequence of limited water supply, high fish density and extensive use of oxygen supplied at super-saturation. As outlined above, CO₂ reduces pH and thereby affects any substances which show different forms depending on pH. Accordingly, a reduction in pH caused by elevated levels of CO₂ may re-mobilise metal ions, e.g., Al (Fivelstad et al 2003). The consequences of a CO_2 dependent reduction in pH would be the same as discussed above. High CO_2 can further cause deposition of calcium carbonate in kidney tissue, known as nephrocalcinosis. This condition is characterised by visible, white, cheese-like, calcium rich depositions in the kidney tissue. Nephrocalcinosis has been observed at concentrations as low as 10 mg CO₂/L following long-term exposure. Increased capacity for binding metabolic CO₂ can be achieved by increasing bicarbonate contents of the water using addition of seawater or liming (Fivelstad et al., 1999, Liltved et al., 2007), a reduction from 2-4 mg CO₂ has been observed when small doses of seawater have been added to smolt rearing tanks (Åtland et al., 2007, Rosten et al., 2007c).

7.5.3 TAN – Total Ammonia Nitrogen (NH₄⁺ + NH₃)

Ammonia is the most important waste product from the metabolism of proteins in fish. It is determined as Total Ammonia Nitrogen (TAN expressed as N mg/L) and expresses the sum of ionised NH₄⁺ and unionised (gas) NH₃. The distribution of the two forms is highly dependant on pH, temperature and salinity (see figure 6). NH3 is the most toxic form, among others, due to its high membrane permeability, and its toxicity increases with reduced temperature. In flowthrough systems, concentrations of TAN are low (Rosten et al., 2007c, Åtland et al., 2007) but can be significant in recirculation and closed transport systems. Concentrations of 25 µg to 300 µg NH₃/L have been reported to cause mortality in salmonid fishes, and 10 µg NH₃/L to cause negative gill interaction. In freshwater hatcheries, Canadian authorities recommend < 10 µgNH₃/L (SECL 1983).

Based on the work by Knoph (1996), a conservative critical limit for Atlantic salmon in Norway has been set to $3-5 \ \mu g \ NH_3$ -N/L, dependant on temperature (Rosseland 1999). The literature does not give an absolute limit, but Rosten et al. (2004) has suggested < 2 $\mu g NH_3/L$ as optimal and > 25 $\mu g NH_3/L$ as not acceptable. No data on the sensitive smolt stage exist. Effects on plasma cortisone, plasma catecholamine, respiration, osmoregulation, circulation, haematology, and histology of gills, kidney and liver have been observed (Smart 1978, U.S. EPA, 1985 and 1989, Alabaster and Lloyd 1982). It is, however, important to stress that unionised ammonia never exist alone but will act synergistic or additive to other contaminants.

In seawater, the permeability of the gill membrane increases by a factor of 10. With the high pH and increased transformation of NH_4^+ to NH_3 (Figure 6) may explain the increased toxicity of NH_3 in seawater (Girard og Payan, 1980). US-EPA has set a maximum 1 Hr exposure pr. every 3^{rd} year of

07/806-Final

wild fish to 5000 μ g TAN/L at pH 8.0, and ca. 2500 μ g TAN/L at pH 8.5 (EPA 1998). Experiences from Norway indicate that a freshwater transport should not exceed 5000 μ g TAN/L at CO₂ > 45 mg/L and < 70% O₂ saturation (Rosten 2000), supporting the US-EPA recommendations. Toxicity of ammonia increases at hypoxic conditions (Alabaster and Lloyd 1982). From the Norwegian WQ-project, the level of TAN in freshwater hatcheries using flow through systems, is between 400 -500 ugTAN/L, with less than 2, 5 ugNH₃/L (Rosten et al. 2007c, Åtland et al. 2007).



Figure 6. Percentage of TAN being in form of NH_4^+ and NH_3 as a function of pH. Normal pH of freshwater (FV), brackish water (BV) and seawater (SV) are indicated (Stefansson et al., 2007)

7.5.4 The creation of foam in marine transport water

By introducing air, oxygen or ozone bubbles into a transport water (only seawater) containing amounts of organic material, foam will form (Rosten et al., pers comm). This has both advantages and disadvantages. The foam might be a way to clean the transport water even though it is a by-product of degassing or aeration and should be removed. Left unremoved, the foam might represent a problem by making it difficult to observe the fish. Likewise, the foam might presumingly (not validated) in some cases, contain fish pathogens. These may enter the environment during transport, if not removed or treated.

The process is also know as protein skimming, and is held as an important aspect of keeping a healthy marine aquarium system by ability to remove DOC's (dissolved organic compounds) active protein skimming can be used as water treatment. Foam is created in the borderline between air and seawater. Tri dimensional foam is created on the sea surface when air bubbles that are trapped under water rises to the surface. At the start, the foam is created from the sea surface micro layer and the surface material of the bubbles. The residential time on the surface is depended upon the stability of the bubble and the presence of small particles (dissolved or in a solid state), Aveyard and Clint, (1996), Peltzer and Griffin, (1988). The creation of foam in seawater is known to be influenced by water with high productivity (Vogt, 1982), reduced surface conductivity due to presence of surface active compounds (Aveyard and Clint, 1996, Peltzer and Griffin, 1988), electrolytes (Weissenborn and Pugh,

1996), humic acids (Oppo et al., 1999), organic films (Slauenwhite and Johnson, 1996), algae (Lancelot et al., 1987, Magnusson et al., 1988).

7.6 Fish metabolism and the impact on water quality in a closed transport system

The metabolism in fish can be expressed by oxygen consumption. In aquaculture one often expresses oxygen consumption as specific oxygen consumption (MO_2) in mg O_2 kg fish⁻¹ min⁻¹. In a fish tank this can be estimated by the following simple equation;

(1) $MO_2 = (DO_{in} - DO_{out}) \times Q/B$ (after Forsberg 1997)

Where DO_{in} and DO_{out} are the dissolved oxygen concentration of the outlet and the inlet water in mg L⁻¹, and Q is the water flow in litre min⁻¹, and B is the biomass of fish in kg. Oxygen consumption is influenced by many factors, such as temperature and fish size (Brett and Glass 1973, Fivelstad and Smith 1991, Forsberg 1994), feed ration (Brett and Groves 1979, Forsberg 1997), feed composition (Roberts 1990), swimming speed and salinity (Rao 1971, Forsberg 1994), stress levels (Smart 1981, Barton and Schreck 1987) and photoperiod (Whitney and Saunders 1973). It is also shown that metabolite production, as carbon dioxide and nitrogen, increases proportionally with increasing feed intakes (Kaushik 1980, Beamish Bæverfjord and Krogdahl (1996) and Thomas 1984, Forsberg 1997).

In a closed transport system the accumulation of total ammonia-nitrogen (TAN) and carbon dioxide (CO_2) from fish metabolism is relevant. In a fish tank the excretion of these metabolites can be simply be expressed as;

(2) $SX = (X_{out}-X_{in}) \times Q/B$ (after Forsberg 1997)

SX is the excretion of either TAN or CO_{2} , and X_{out} and X_{in} are the outlet and the inlet concentration (mg L⁻¹) of each metabolite. An ammonia quotient AQ and a respiration quotient (RQ) can be calculated as mol TAN / mol O_2^{-1} and mol CO_2 / mol O_2^{-1} and be presented as;

(3) $AQ = (32/14) \times TAN / MCO_2$	(after Forsberg 1997)
(4) $RQ = (32/44) \times MCO_2/MO_2$	(after Forsberg 1997)

The fractions are used to convert oxygen consumption rates and metabolites excretion from mg to mole. From these (1-4) equations we can understand the simple practical principle that increasing the biomass (B) and limit the water exchange (Q) the concentrations (SX) and CO_2 and TAN in the transport water will increase. The rate is influenced by all the factors mentioned above, and concentration in water by the time and volume available for accumulation. A field study of closed transport of harvestable salmon carried out by Rosten et al., (unpublished data) confirms this (see figure 6 and 7).



Figure 6. Figure 6 describes the levels of CO_2 , H^+ (pH) and oxygen concentration in the well water during a 18h transport of salmon average weight 4, 1 kg, 118 kg /m³. Time 14:24 (2:24 pm) to 19:12 (7:12 pm) is open system. Time 19:12 to 07:12 (07.12 am) is closed system. The flattening in CO_2 and pH from time 00:00 to 07:12 is due to the use of degassing equipment onboard the vessel. The relatively stable oxygen concentration is due to feedback controlled adding of extra oxygen to the well.



Figure 7. Figure 7 describes the levels of TAN, Total-nitrogen (Tot-N) and total organic material (TOC) concentration in the well water during a18h transport of Atlantic salmon average weight 4, 1 kg, 118 kg / m^3 . Time 14:24 (2:24 pm) to 19:12 (7:12 pm) is open system. Time 19:12 to 07:12 (07.12 am) is closed system. The increase in TAN, Tot-N and TOC from 19:02 to 07:12 is due to no water exchange during the closed period. It is likely to assume that the accumulation rate is influenced by the

common known factors that influences fish metabolism. No water treatment was applied to these parameters.

NIVA has recently carried out some calculation relevant for water quality estimation in fish transport for large salmon. A model published by Grøttum and Sigholt (1998) was chosen. The model for oxygen consumption was based on swim respirometer experiments on starved Atlantic salmon (size range: 1, 1-2 kg, temperature 5-15 °C). The estimated 4 variable model relates oxygen consumption (VO2, mg kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) to body weight (BW, kg), temperature (°C) and swimming speed (U, body lengths sec⁻¹). The equation is given without (1) and with (2) uncertainty estimates (\pm SE).

$$VO2 = 61, 6 * BW^{-0.33} * 1,03^{T} * 1,79^{U}$$
(1)

$$VO2 = 61, 6 (\pm 6,6) * BW^{-0.33(\pm 0,11)} * 1,03 (\pm 0,10)^{T} * 1,79 (\pm 0,10)^{U}$$
(2)

The incorporated parameters in the model are considered to constitute the core parameters needed to estimate oxygen consumption. Relatively large uncertainty estimates is inherent in such experiments, as individual variation in oxygen consumption and other parameters is relatively large. The obtained mass exponent for correction for body size corresponds to the theoretical scaling factor for allometric effects of changes in surface area: body volume ratio (0, 67). The factor for temperature effects on metabolic rate, commonly denoted as Q_{10} was 1, 34, which is a fairly low estimate, possibly underestimating the temperature effect on metabolic rate (i.e. overestimating metabolism at low temperatures while underestimating metabolism at high temperatures). The incorporation of swimming speed, in body lengths pr second takes fish size into account. Figure 8 illustrates the fact that smaller fish have higher metabolism and contributes more with metabolites to the transport water, than larger fish. Figure 9 illustrates the fact that increasing the swimming speed will result in higher metabolism and higher contribution of metabolites to the transport water. Both calculations were done using fishsize 9-14 kg, and a temperature range 4 to 12 °C. Swimming speed was estimated to 0, 5 bl/sec.



Figure 8. Effects of fish size on oxygen consumption, CO_2 excretion and TAN excretion in the temperature range 4-12 °C. Data from: the model (1).



Figure 9. Effects of swimming speed (U, bl sec⁻¹) on oxygen consumption, CO2 excretion and TAN excretion in the temperature range 4-12 °C. Data from: the model (2).

By studying of Forsberg (1997), we find specific oxygen consumption rates in 2 kg Atlantic salmon kept at 8,5 °C ranging form 0,95-0,99 mg kg⁻¹ min⁻¹ in starved fish, to 1,91 - 2,06 mg kg⁻¹ min⁻¹ in fish fed with 0,6- 0,75 % bodyweight day⁻¹. Likewise we see that the TAN excretion rates ranged from 11,8-12,8 µg N kg⁻¹ min in starved fish, to 76,4 - 81,7 µg N kg⁻¹ min⁻¹ in fish fed with 0,59- 0,62% bodyweight day⁻¹. The production of CO₂ was estimated to be 0,85 - 0,86 mg kg⁻¹ min⁻¹ in starved fish, and 2,17 - 2,12 mg kg⁻¹ min⁻¹ in fish fed with 0,59- 0,62 % bodyweight day⁻¹. From this experiment, we can clearly see the impact of starvation prior to the transport on the water quality in the closed transport system. We can also see that the CO₂ excretion is approximately in a 1:1 relationship with the specific oxygen consumption in starved fish, and 10 % increase in CO₂ excretion in fed fish. Likewise it can be estimated that TAN excretion is in 1: 100 relationship the specific oxygen consumption in starved to an approximated 1:10 relationship in fed fish.

7.6.1 The buffering capacity of water

Blancheton et al., (2007) has described that the carbonate system is responsible for determining the pH of most natural waters. It consist of the dissolved forms of carbon dioxide (CO₂), carbonic acid (H₂CO₃), bicarbonate ion (HCO₃⁻) and the carbonate ion (CO₃) Free CO₂, or total dissolved CO₂ in the water is normally considered to be same as the [H₂CO₃] since only a small fraction of the CO₂ is hydrated to H₂CO₃. In a farming or a transport system for fish, the equilibrium reactions and the corresponding constants can be expressed as;

$\mathrm{CO}_2(\mathbf{g}) + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} \longleftrightarrow \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{CO}_3$	$K_{H} = [CO_{2}(g)] / [H_{2}CO_{3}]$
$H_2CO_3 \leftarrow \rightarrow H^+ + HCO_3^-$	$K_{a,1} = [H^+] [HCO_3^-] / [H_2CO_3]$
$HCO_3^- \leftarrow \rightarrow H^+ + CO_3^{2-}$	$K_{a,2} = [H^+] [CO_3^-] / [HCO_3^-]$

Where K_H is Henry's law constant and the two equilibrium constant (K) are function of temperature and salinity (Stumm et al 1996). From the equations we see that accumulating CO₂ in the water will result in increased [H⁺], which will result in a drop in pH. The drop in pH is depended upon the buffering capacity of the water, which could be expressed as alkalinity. Alkalinitity (ALK) is the capacity of water to neutralize acid, that is [H⁺], to H₂CO₃ and is defined by Doe (1994) as;

$$ALK = [HCO_3^{-1}] + 2 [CO_3^{-1}] + [B(OH)_4^{-1}] + [NH_3] + [SiO(OH)_3^{-1}] + [HPO_4^{-2}] + 2[PO_4^{-2}] - [H_3PO_4] + [OH^{-1}] - [H^{+1}]$$

In most aquaculture relevant applications, the alkalinity expression is simplified to include only carbonate, hydrogen and hydroxyl terms;

$$ALK = [HCO_3^{-}] + 2 [CO_3^{-}] + [OH^{-}] - [H^{+}].$$

The buffering capacity might also be expressed by Acid Neutralizing Capasity (ANC) defined by Reuss and Johnsson (1986). The buffering capacity judget by ANC, is generally better the more ions there is present in the water. By adding lime or seawater one will gain more buffer capacity both by increasing the $[HCO_3^-]$ and ions (Liltvedt et al., 2007). By this reasons, seawater is more robust towards pH drop caused by accumulation of CO_2 than low ionic freshwater.

7.6.2 Maximum levels of metabolites in transport water and transport length

The major water quality effects experienced by fish during a closed transport are: low dissolved oxygen (O_2) levels due to consumption, accumulation of carbon dioxide (CO_2) , depression of pH due to CO_2 -accumulation and increased total ammonia nitrogen (TAN) levels (Paterson et al., 2003, Erikson et al., 1997, Rosten et al., 2007a). In fish transport operations the dissolved CO_2 is not recommended to increase above 20-30 mg L⁻¹, to prevent blood CO_2 concentrations from rising (hypercapnia) and the resulting Bohr-effect from impairing adequate oxygen transport to the tissues. The oxygen carrying capacity of fish Hb will also decrease if the blood pH declines (Root effect). In hypercapnia, the Root effect will compromise oxygen transport to the tissues only if the blood CO_2 increase is large enough to cause metabolic acidosis. Increased blood lactic acid concentrations (hyperlacticemia) due to excitement and struggling, can overwhelm the blood buffering capacity causing acidosis and reduced oxygen transport to the tissues (Wedemeyer 1996). This can cause rapid and strong rigor, and reduced flesh quality in salmon (Erikson et al., 1997, 1998) Because of this, closed transport is an operation where fish welfare might be challenged if not planned and carried out properly.

In a closed transport of harvestable fish, one may take advantage of the possibility to cool the water temperature, establish a controlled environment of O_2 , and let CO_2 levels naturally accumulate to a certain level. The latter may be called "self-inductive sedation", where increased CO_2 and reduced temperature seem to make the fish calmer and more sedate (Ronja Commander; Rosten et al; pers comm.; see also 7.7.2.). On the other hand, accumulation of TAN and CO_2 represent potential stressors during closed transport, and the crew needs to have a tight control and the knowledge and measures to prevent undesirable and life threatening conditions for the fish.

Most well boat transports are typically carried out with flow trough system (open valves). The advantage of an open transport strategy compared to a closed is lower risks for accumulation of harmful metabolites (Rosten et al., 2005a). The disadvantage is the lack of possibility to lower the core temperature of the fish prior to slaughter. There is also no possibility to benefit from self-inductive sedation by moderately elevated CO_2 .

During closed transport it is important that the water CO_2 levels do not reach toxic levels. In the case of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*), the LC_{50} levels of CO_2 were about 100 mg L⁻¹ (Grøttum and Sigholt 1996). From practical experience with salmon growers in closed seawater transport, a maximum allowed CO_2 concentration in the well is set to 50 mg L⁻¹ (Håvard Bjørndal pers. comm.). In a closed well boat transport system with Atlantic salmon smolt a CO_2 level of 44 mg L⁻¹ were reached after 2 hours transport (Rosten et al., 2005a).

Oxygen is very important in closed transport system. With no extra oxygen supply the fish will start to die within a very short time. On the other hand, transport of salmon under hyperoxic conditions causes abnormal behaviour and osmoregulatory disturbances (Erikson et al., 1998 and Chapter 7.5.1). Gill damage and osmoregulatory disturbances due to oxidative cell damage is shown during hyperoxia for Atlantic smolt (Brauner et al., 2000) and might be an explanation for the observed mortalities often seen 12-48 hours after transport and transfer to seawater (Rosten et al., 2007). However, low oxygen levels are known to increase the toxicity of ammonia (Merkins and Downings, 1957, Alabaster et al., 1982, Thurston et al., 1981). When extra oxygen is supplied, this might be a possible explanation why fish very seldom dies during a closed transport on trucks, even with high fish loads and presumingly high total ammonia concentrations. A few such cases are known to the *ad hoc* group (Rosten pers. comm.).

Un-ionized ammonia (NH_3) causes problems in a closed transport (Figure 6), but since the accumulation of CO_2 results in a decrease in pH, the ammonia will be in its more bio-tolerable ionic form (NH_4 +). Practical experience with well boats shows that mortality can occur when opening the valves for water-exchange, since this operation leads to a rapid increase in pH and chemical equilibrium driven towards increased concentration of toxic un-ionized ammonia.

There is limited information about safe levels of water quality parameters in closed transport. There seems to be a relationship between the CO₂ concentration in water and the dissolved oxygen (DO) levels necessary to provide sufficient oxygen to the tissues. Basu (1959) showed that the DO levels had to increased from 6 mg L⁻¹ when pratical no CO₂ was present, to more that 11 mg L⁻¹ when CO₂ levels reached 30 mg L⁻¹. Due to this oxygen levels must be kept above 80% saturation during closed transport (Wedemeyer 1996). The role of NH⁴⁺ is uncertain since most studies have been done on un un-ionized ammonia (NH₃). A maximum 4 hours safe exposure level of 100 ug L⁻¹ is recommended for salmonids på the US Environmental Protection Agency 1986. In Norwegian context this is regarded as high (Rosseland pers.med). Cod fry is reported to be relatively tolerant to ammonia. No growth limitation was observed for cod fry (3-4g) during 96 days exposure for 60 µg/l NH₃ (Foss et al., 2004). However, it is suspected that NH₄⁺ might be more permeable to the gill membrane in seawater than in freshwater and thus might have more influence on the toxicity in sweater (Girard and Payan, 1980).

A seldom case study of a transport with fatal outcome is described by Rosten et al (2007). The case described a 30 hours closed transport with smolt (97g, 36 kg/m3) in freshwater, water temperature 4-6 °C, pH 5, 8 – 6, 4. Fish started to get problems after 15 hours, when TAN levels reached 5, 5 mg L⁻¹. At that time un-ionised ammonia levels had reached 0, 5 ug L⁻¹, CO₂ concentration reached 40 mg L⁻¹, oxygen levels dropped to 68 % saturation, and TOC increased by 7 mg L⁻¹. The mortality was assessed to be caused by a combination of high levels of metabolites, to low level of oxygen under such conditions. Using these critical water quality concentrations, it is possible to calculate the maximum load and advisable transport length in closed system for Atlantic salmon fry and smolts. A three step risk level for metabolites in transport water was suggested by Rosten et al., (2007), with maximum upper levels of 60 mg L⁻¹ for CO₂, 5 mg L⁻¹ for TAN and 0,5 ug L⁻¹ for NH₃-N (see table 3). This model has not yet been verified, so it should not be used as guidelines. The uncertainty is especially linked to the assumed fish metabolism under such conditions. However, this model clearly illustrates the complexity in predicting safe transport length and transport loads.

Table 3. Water quality criteria suggested to calculate the maximum transport length in closed transport.

Parameter	Risk level (RL)1	Risk level (RL) 2	Risk level (RL) 3
$CO_2 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$	20	40	60
TAN $\underline{\mu}g L^{-1}$	3000	4000	5000
$NH_3 \mu g L^{-1}$	0,5	1	2

Table 4. Maximum recommended transport time in closed system with freshwater (pH 6.0; alkalinity 0.04 mmol L^{-1}) for 1-2 g salmon fry with three different fish loads, three different risk levels (RL), three different temperatures and three different specific oxygen consumption. The model is highly dependent on pH, temperature and buffer-capacity (alkalinity).

Temperature and	25 kg/m^3	50 kg/m^3	75 kg/m ³
oxygen consumption	Maximum time in	Maximum time in	Maximum time in
rate	closed system (hours)	closed system (hours)	closed system (hours)
			,
	RL 1. 3,7	RL 1 1,7	RL 1 1,1
2 °C	RL 2. 8,0	RL 2. 4,0	RL 2. 3,0
$(5 \text{ mg O}_2 \text{ kg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$	RL 3. 10,0	RL 3. 5,0	RL 3. 3,0
	RL 1. 1,0	RL 1. 0,4	RL 1. 0,3
10 °C	RL 2. 3,0	RL 2. 1,3	RL 2. 0,9
$(14 \text{ mg O}_2 \text{kg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$	RL 3. 3,0	RL 3. 1,7	RL 3. 0,8
15 °C	RL 1. 0,4	RL 1. 0,1	RL 1. 0,1
$(10 \text{ mg O} \text{ kg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$	RL 2. 1,0	RL 2. 0,7	RL 2. 0,4
$(19 \text{ mg } O_2 \text{ kg} \text{ mm})$	RL 3. 2,0	RL 3. 1,2	RL 3. 0,6

Table 5. Maximum recommended transport time in closed system with freshwater (pH 6, 0, Alkalinity 0,04 mmol L^{-1}) for 70 g salmon smolt with three different fish loads, three different risk levels (RL), three different temperatures and three different specific oxygen consumption.

Temperature and	25 kg/m ³	50 kg/m ³	75 kg/m ³
oxygen consumption	Maximum time in	Maximum time in	Maximum time in
rate	closed system (hours)	closed system (hours)	closed system (hours)
	RL 1. 5,5	RL 1 2,7	RL 1 1,7
2 °C	RL 2. 16,0	RL 2. 8,0	RL 2. 5,0
$(2 \text{ mg O}_2 \text{ kg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$	RL 3. 25,0	RL 3. 12,0	RL 3. 8,0
	RL 1. 2,6	RL 1. 1,2	RL 1. 0,8
10 °C	RL 2. 7,0	RL 2. 3,0	RL 2. 2,1
$(5 \text{ mg O}_2 \text{ kg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$	RL 3.10	RL 3. 5,0	RL 3. 3,0
15 °C	RL 1. 1,7	RL 1. 0,6	RL 1. 0,2
$(8 \text{ mg } O 1\text{ s}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$	RL 2. 3,8	RL 2. 1,6	RL 2. 0,9
$(\circ \inf O_2 kg \min)$	RL 3. 6,0	RL 3. 2,8	RL 3. 1,8

7.6.3 Monitoring of water quality during closed transports

Monitoring of a closed live fish transport is critical since rapid changes in water quality may occur under transport conditions. Currently, systems for monitoring and controlling water quality in well-boats and trucks vary. A full covering system for control and management of water quality parameters is not constructed. The most important parameters to monitor in a closed system are dissolved O_2 , CO_2 , total ammonia, total organic carbon and pH together with temperature and conductivity (salinity). During transport in closed wells the increased content of mucus and debris from the fish is a challenge for automatic on-line sensors to give reliable data, and self cleaning sensors is highly recommended. In addition will the content of algae and special potential harmful algal be of importance to monitor in the incoming water (from outside the boat). Presently sensors like temperature and conductivity should work satisfactory if the recommended maintenance is followed, but more difficult will be sensors based on membrane technology as e.g. O_2 or electrodes (pH). Sensor technology based on fibre optics is currently available for O_2 , and may be tested as an alternative to current standards. Measurement of CO_2 is very often based on alkalinity titration and pH measurements, or basic titration. These methods are based on assumptions of equilibrium in the bicarbonate system and that the bicarbonate system is the dominant buffering system. Both assumptions may be incorrect in high-density transport and comparison with a chemical based CO_2 determination in the laboratory has shown unreliable data by such analysis (Kristensen and Rosseland 2005). New prototype sensors based on direct measurement of the CO_2 partial pressure is developed and promising results are achieved.

Direct measurement of the toxic un-ionized ammonia (NH₃) is presently not possible with any sensor, but is based on pH measurements and chemical determination of ammonium. New and improved technology is urgently needed to give better estimates of this toxic substance.

7.6.4 System for monitoring of water quality in closed transport

A water quality monitoring systems with sensors for O_2 , CO_2 , pH, salinity and temperature is already implemented on some well boats specialized for closed transport. The water monitoring system consists of sensors mounted in-line with the water flow either pumped from outside the ship or from the wells on-board. The signal from the sensor are recorded using software available from the instrument supplier and they are presented on-board the ship for the operator or transferred via cables to monitors on the bridge.



Figure 10. Water sampling from units leading water from two fish wells and outside water into a central monitoration and sampling unit onboard a well boat designed for closed transport. Photo: Trond Rosten

7.6.5 Water treatment

It is critical to treat the water during a closed transport. It is also important to gain optimal water quality before closing the well. Equipment for treating water may include oxygenation, water cooling, degassing of CO_2 and protein skimming. It is not common to use any equipment to treat unionized ammonia. Keeping sufficient low pH is a way to avoid ammonia toxicity. To our knowledge, water treatment equipment is taken into use in both well boats and trucks design for closed transports (see figure 11 and 12). It is not common to use any equipment to treat unionized ammonia, but keeping sufficient low pH is a way to avoid ammonia toxicity. The use of Zeolitt is potential method to clean fresh water for ammonium–N. This method is not commonly used in Norway, but a prototype for trucks is developed in Chile (Parada 2008). We do not have any more information upon this method.



Figure 11. Water treatment unit onboard one well boat designed for closed transport. Photo: Kai Sørensen (NIVA).



Figure 12. Water treatment unit (degasser) on one well boat designed for closed transport. Photo: Kai Sørensen (NIVA)

7.7 Starvation before transportation

The rationale for introducing a period of starvation before transportation is to secure acceptable welfare during and after the transport. Experiences show that starvation reduces metabolism prior to and during the transport phase, it reduces negative impacts from uneaten feed, fish metabolism and

faeces on water quality; it reduces population hierarchy, fight and stress, as well as improves performance after transfer.

In the wild, many fish species may survive in the absence of food for periods of several months, like for example migrating sexually mature salmonids and over-wintering carps. Thus, in-house transport procedures of fish normally involve withdrawal of feed for an appropriate period (from two days to one week depending on fish size) prior to and under transport, mainly to provide safe environment and minimise stress during, under and after transport. An acceptable transport results is essential both for on-growers (quality for farming) and slaughter fish (sustain market quality). For harvest fish, starvation is also essential to reduce contamination by intestinal content during slaughter and to improve fillet quality (Einen et al., 1998).

There seem to be differences in fasting metabolism between fish species, developmental stages, and relative to time and rearing temperatures (Petri 2003). Juveniles, with rapid growth and development, and less stored energy are more sensitive to fasting. Metabolic rate increases with temperature, and induces relative changes in nutrients (glucose, lipids and amino acids) released for catabolism.

Starvation reduces growth rate, metabolism and hence respiration rate in fish. To survive adverse periods like starvation, energy saving strategies is induced to maintain the supply of energy substrates to life bearing tissues such as the brain and neural tissue. The strategy of conserving body substrate levels with reduced energy expenditure during food deprivation, while maintaining an efficient assimilation strategy when food is available; makes the fish able to survive adverse conditions for much longer periods than mammals. A delayed adaptation of metabolic rate to starvation is, however, observed which means that a starvation should be initiated for an appropriate period before transportation (Petri 2003).

Observed changes during short-term starvation include:

- The intestinal mucosa changed towards a typical "resting appearance" in Atlantic salmon postsmolts (500 g) fasting through three weeks compared to fed fish (Bæverfjord and Krogdahl 1996).
- Higher relative losses in body mass was observed initially (during 2-7 days) compared to later losses in carp, rainbow trout and Sibirian sturgeon during 28 days fasting, indicating emptying of the gastrointestinal tract and adaptation to lower metabolic rates (Petri 2003)
- Body mass loss during starvation is higher at elevated temperatures indicating elevated catabolism and energy expenditure (Petri 2003)
- Body lipid, protein and glycogen are degraded and used for energy during starvation; the relative contribution differs between species and rearing conditions (Petri 2003)
- Energy saving strategy involves endocrine changes, such as circulating growth hormone and thyroid hormone and hepatic level growth hormone receptor (GHR) observed already 2 days after fasting (Deng et al 2004)
- Short- or long-term fasting and re-feeding regimes do not seem to be associated with nutritional stress and reduced fish welfare (Pottinger et al 2003).

The fish should be starved some days prior to transportation to reduce general metabolism and to temporary adapt their behaviour to a no feed regimes. Partly or restricted feeding will cause competition, aggressive behaviour and increased risk for transportation injuries. Stress and increased stocking densities during transport are likely to reduce feed intake (Ellis et al 2002), which further supports fasting as a welfare measure. During transport, general metabolism may be reduced both due to starvation and hypoxia (Zhou et al., 2001), and reduced water temperature.

Besides a maintained oxygen level, threshold tolerance limits for long term negative effects of ambient unionized ammonia is one of the most critical water quality parameters for optimal performance in intensive rearing facilities (see 7.6). Since ammonia excretion is directly related to protein intake and time after feeding (Handy and Poxton, 1993), starvation prior to transport are beneficial to the water quality.

07/806-Final

It is important to know species-specific tolerance limits for water quality parameters, even though these may prove to be too simplistic due to interactions with situation dependent parameters (temperature, oxygen, carbon dioxide, pH, salinity, nitrite, and suspended solids). One should consider welfare implications of transporting fish between waters of different qualities, since the fish may need time to adapt to changes in water chemistry (HSA 2007).

7.8 Sedation

7.8.1 The use of other sedatives during transport

Anaesthetics are useful to reduce activity and to minimise stress in fish as described by Iversen et al., (2003). Anaesthetic agents added to the water at low doses may also be used to sedate fish prior to transport. This reduces metabolic rate and hence oxygen demand, reduce general activity, increase ease of handling, and mitigate the stress response (Cooke et al. 2004). The ideal level of sedation for fish transport is referred to as a deep sedation, including loss of reactivity to external stimuli, and decrease in metabolic rate but with maintenance of homeostasis (McFarland 1959). This level is consistent with anaesthesia stage two, as described by Summerfelt and Smith (1990). If heavily sedated, the fish will loose equilibrium, cease swimming and die from suffocation if they all are settled to the tank bottom. The choice of anaesthetics generally depends on several considerations: 1) Safety for the user 2) Availability; 3) Cost-effectiveness; 4) Ease of use; and 5) Nature of the study (Cho and Heath 2000). Marking and Mayer (1985) produced a list of characteristics of an ideal anaesthetic. In addition to these characteristics, a particular anaesthetic should have a stress-reducing capacity, with blocking of the hypothalamus-pituitary- interrenal (HPI) axis and render the fish unable to respond to additional stressors (Olsen et al., 1995; Keene et al., 1998).

Metomidate (d1-1-(1-phenylethyl)-5-(metoxycarbonyl) imidazole hydrochloride) is a rapid acting water-soluble non-barbiturate hypnotic in several species (Mattson and Riple 1989; Masse et al. 1995). Metomidate has also been shown to block cortisol synthesis and prevent handling-related glucose increase (Thomas and Robertson 1991; Nilssen et al. 1996). In Norway it has been used in research but it has never been introduced to or approved by the commercial aquaculture industry, partly due to the absence of analgesic properties (Horsberg and Samuelsen 1999).

Benzoak[®] (now labeled Benzoak[®] VET, Euro-Pharma AS) contains the active substance benzocaine (ethyl-4-aminobenzoate) at a concentration level of 20% (200 g L⁻¹). Benzocaine is a local anaesthetic agent closely related to the widely used anaesthetic metacaine (MS-222) (Mattson and Riple 1989; Burka et al. 1997; Ross and Ross 1999). However, it is 250 times less soluble than metacaine in water, and therefore any solutions containing benzocaine have to be made in ethanol, acetone or propylene glycol (Burka et al. 1997; Ross and Ross 1999). Benzocaine has a good margin of safety, although this appears to be reduced at higher temperatures. Water hardness or pH do not affect its efficacy. As with metacaine, benzocaine is fat-soluble and recovery times can be prolonged in older or sexually mature animals (Ross and Ross 1999). Generally the tissue levels of the drug fall to undetectable levels within approximately 24 h (Allen 1988), but the withdrawal time for use in fish for food in USA (Ross and Ross, 1999) and Norway is 21 days (Horsberg and Samuelsen 1999).

Clove oil is derived from the stem, leaves and buds of the *Eugenia caryophyllata* tree, and it is used throughout the world for applications ranging from food flavouring to local anaesthesia in dentistry profession (Anderson et al. 1997). Eugenol (4-allyl-2-methoxyphenol), the active substance makes up 90-95 % of the clove oil (Briozzo et al. 1989), and as a food additive is classified by the FDA to be a substance that is generally regarded as safe (GRAS) (Anderson et al. 1997). Due to these positive features reported on eugenol (clove oil) as anaesthetic on aquatic animals, a new anaesthetic compound for fish was developed in New Zealand, called Aqui-STM (Ross and Ross 1999). Aqui-STM is reported to contain 50 % (540 g L⁻¹) iso-eugenol (2-methoxy-4-propenylphenol) and 50 % polysorbate 80. These materials are classified as GRAS by the FDA (Ross and Ross 1999). The eugenol based

anaesthetics (clove oil and Aqui-S[™]) show promise as effective anaesthetics for Atlantic salmon based on good efficiency at low dosage and stress-reducing capabilities (Tort et al., 2002; Iversen et al., 2003). Similar effects have been shown on largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*) (Cooke et al., 2004) and on channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*), (Small 2004). Eugenol based anaesthetics are also easily and inexpensively obtained, and are organic substances safe for the environment and user.

Anaesthetics for use in commercial fish transports in Norway (aquaculture and compensatory releases) have not been performed yet. This method has yet to be licensed both in Norway and in the rest of Europe and more studies have to be performed if this method is to be implemented in commercial fish transports. In view of the positive research results using anaesthesia, this may however be an alternative strategy for increasing fish welfare during transport leading to better survival and growth of fish at the releasing site.

7.8.2 Self inductance CO₂ –sedation during closed transport

It is shown that fish will be anesthetized under extremely high CO₂ levels ($>>100 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) (Yoshikawa et al., 1994; Bernier and Randall, 1998). Robb et al., (2000) found that there was significant different in time for onset of brain failure between fish stunned by percussive blow or spike, and those stunned by CO₂. Hower it is also found that oxygen levels prior and during CO₂ stunning can modulate adult Atlantic salmon's stress response to CO₂ stunning and prolong the short pre-rigor time associated with pure CO₂ stunning (Erikson et al 1998). The levels during closed transport studied in Scotland by Rosten et al were very moderate compared to those previously used in CO_2 stunning tanks. The temperature in the transport water may play a major role, since it is affecting oxygen uptake. The lowering of temperature and the moderate increase in concentrations of CO₂ might induce a lower affinity of oxygen in the fish blood, thus stimulating the release of oxygen to the tissues and reducing the gill respiration frequency (root off effect, see Chapter 7.6.1), but this might also impair the uptake of oxygen through the gills. One can speculate if the procedure of lowering the water temperature is counteracting the negative effect of CO₂ on the oxygen uptake. Anyhow, during such transport conditions it can be vital to prevent hypoxia. Figure 14 shows that the partial pressure of oxygen and CO_2 in the blood is increasing during the period with closed transport with water temperatures lowered from 12 to 6 °C. This mechanism must be studied more carefully to understand the sedative responses in fish during a controlled closed and cooled transport.

In the full scale pilot study of water quality and fish physiology during two commercial transports of adult salmon using closed well boat system, by lowering the water temperatures and controlling accumulation of CO_2 and oxygen levels, it was reported that the fish seemed to develop a sedative status, and that the pre-*rigor mortis* time was significantly prolonged compared to normal pre-rigor time experienced in Norwegian harvesting plants (Rosten et al., unpublished data). A study of the breathing movements indicated that there might be a correlation between CO_2 content in the well water and fish getting into a pre- anaesthesia phase (see Figure 13).



Figure 13. The potential relationship between carbon dioxide concentration in the well water and recorded breathing movements (respiration frequency) in closed transport. After Rosten et al., (unpublished data).





Figure 14. The figure on top show oxygen levels in adult Atlantic salmon blood (kPa) and to the bottom shows CO_2 levels in blood (kPa), sampled with heart puncture pre, and during a transport (7 hour) with closed system. Rosten et al. (unpublished data).

7.9 Remarks on critical operations in closed fish transports

A way to reduce the accumulation of metabolites is to try to reduce the metabolism of the fish. This can be done by lowering swimming speed, lowering the temperature, and using degassing equipment. It is important to monitor water quality in the well and combine this with observations of the fish. Underwater cameras in several places in the well are recommendable for control purposes. One should

avoid a too large and rapid temperature drop (max 10 °C with max 1.5 °C change hour⁻¹). The temperature in the well-water should not be below 4 °C (Håvard Bjørndal, pers.comm).

7.9.1 The importance of information and experience

It is vital to any transporter to know the condition of the fish to be transported; are they healthy, harmed or by any way compromised or stressed. The fish should be fit for transport, and if not judged so, the transport should be cancelled. In this context, it makes sense to consider the condition of the fish group and not single fishes. An experienced transporter will adjust transport conditions based on his opinion about fish health and robustness. For stressed fish, actions might be to reduce loading and increase oxygen supply. In well boats it is common to talk about rule of thumb. This vague wording often covers years of experience in observing fish during transport, while the importance of this must not be overruled. There is no special education for transporting fish so the competence is in most cases handed over from an experienced skipper to a new recruit. However, when it comes to transporting fish in closed system in well boats, the experience is weak or lacking. This might represent both a practical and a psychological barrier to overcome for the industry. Boats and crew fit for closed transport are available, but constitute a minor part compared to the large number of boats and crews rigged for open transport.

7.9.2 Preparation for transport

To be able to carry out a successful transport with live fish, it is important to ensure sufficient preparation before the transport is carried out. The importance of food restriction prior to the transport is stressed by many transporters, since this procedure seems to improve both robustness of the fish and the visual appearance of the transport water due to a down regulation of metabolism and less faeces in the gut. Faeces in the transport water will cause more organic carbon and higher turbidity in the transport water. To the human eye such water will seem more polluted. Higher levels of organic material are also causing the creation of skim when air, oxygen or ozone is mixed into the water. In closed transport systems with seawater, the problem with skim during summertime (naturally occurring organic load in the seawater) and with higher fish densities or insufficient feed restriction period, must be solved technically. An assessment carried out by the committee concludes that such technology is available.

Planning the truck or sailing route is of high importance since this might affect the time necessary to transport with closed system, the transport length, the risk for intermixing with water from other fish farm and the risk for rough sea, algae blooms etc. Dialogue with fish health authorities is of highest importance. The time schedules for transportation of live fish, and especially transportation of smolts, can be very tight. Well boats and trucks are normally booked well in advance. This gives limited possibilities for postponing transports due to unfavourable environmental conditions.

Pre-transport stress is problematic. It is well known both scientifically and practically that fish tend to get stressed when they are crowded together in a dip- or brail net. Crowding and netting fish is also often associated with hypoxia, and these two stressors create a massive stress response in the fish (see Chapter 7.4.) These operations must therefore be carried out with gently hands, clear minds and the necessary time. Transporters often reports problems with too much stress in fish tanks or brail nets prior to transport. This lowers the robustness of the fish and affects the fitness for transport. If the transport is to be carried out with closed valves it event more important that the pre-transport stress is kept as low as possible. The way to regulate and minimize this is to stimulate good workmanship and understanding by the fish technicians that carries out operation. In addition, time spend in a brail net is very important, and in this context the loading equipment plays a significant role.

7.9.3 Loading

Up to the late 90'ties a large dip net was used to load the fish into the boat. In the 70'ties and 80'ties it was not common to use plastic lining on the dip net, so the operation was "dry" and very stressful. The plastic linings was introduced in the mid 80'ties in well boats, and was a major improvement in the loading technology. Since it was discovered early that the loading stress could affect the quality of the transport (and the wellbeing of the fish), there was a drive for innovation of new loading technologies. Since the density and the total cargo originally was estimated by counting dip nets, there was also a drive for establishing technology that could automatically calculate the load from counting the number of fish and analyzing average weight. In the late 90'ties a new system based upon online video analyses of live fish passing a weighing – counting unit on its way into the boat, was designed. When this unit was combined with the idea of using the possibility of siphoning the fish from the brail-net onto the boat, great progress was made in minimizing the loading stress. The next generation of low stress loading equipment was the idea to establish a sub atmospheric (-0, 2 ATM) pressure inside the well so that the fish was sucked into the boat through the large siphon tube passing the weighing and counting equipment. The advantages of the siphoning and sub atmospheric pressure system were that these systems were much faster than loading by a dip net. The time spent in a brailnet could therefore be dramatically reduced. The accuracy of the current biomass estimation equipment is held to be within 1-2 %. This was almost a revolution compared to conditions in the mid 90'ties where a 10 % accuracy was more common. Today, all new boats tend to have such equipment, however, an unknown number of operating vessels do not have this technology.

Loading fish directly into a closed system has recently been shown to be risky, due to physical conditions in the well water, particularly the risk for a total gas-pressure above 100 % combined with the super saturation with nitrogen gas, which might cause problems for the fish (Rosten et al. 2007b). The cause of the super saturation is probably that air bubbles are trapped in the pipes and well and are put under pressure by circulation pumps. This can be counteracted by degassing the transport water 1.5 -2 hours prior to loading the fish into the closed system, a procedure which physically homogenizes the air in the water.

There is no doubt that the initial loading stress is significant. Using modern loading equipment it is probably correct to assume that the stress is originating from crowding and brail-netting before transport. Establishing an initial recovery window post loading may improve welfare of the fish. Experience and operational procedures for transporting large salmon in closed, temperature dropping systems have counted in a period of recovery before the system is closed. This might be of vital importance. Recommendations for fish loads in closed systems using two temperature regimes have been obtained from the company *Sølvtrans AS* and are presented in Figure 15.



Figure 15. An example of practical criteria used to decide fish load on high (14 °C) and low (8 °C) temperatures (summer and winter conditions). We can se that the higher metabolism of small fish is causing a reduction in fish load. Likewise there is a reduction in fish loads under summer temperatures. (Data from Sølvtrans AS, Håvard Bjørndal)

7.9.4 Unloading

Arriving and the unloading phase is another critical moment in closed transport. It is important to avoid quick pH rise which can cause rapid transformation from ammonium (NH_4) to ammonia (NH_3) leading to ammonia toxicity. Unloading the fish from a well boat using vacuum pumps, without intake of fresh seawater with higher pH is almost inevitable. Opening the valves may thus increase acute risk for ammonia toxicity. Due to this problem boats with moving bulkhead are the ones mostly suited for unloading fish from a closed system. There are indications that fish may be mechanically wounded in the transporting process. (Aunsmo et al., 2008).

7.9.5 Emergency situations

During a closed transport the transporters should plan for emergency situations. Examples of such situations and actions are listed in table 7.

Emergency situation	Probability to	Damage	Risk (r)	Action
Emergency stuation	occur (p) [1(low)-6 (high)]	(d) 1(low)-6 (high)]	$r=p^*d$	
Failure of oxygen supply	2	6	12	Backup system
Failure of degassing of CO ₂	2	6	12	Backup system
Wrong calibration of water sensors	3	5	12	Training, procedures and inter calibration
Rapid pH rise in TAN rich water	3	6	18	Avoid intake of water with higher pH after a long period of closed system or change water with a same or lower pH
Delayed and prolonged transport (truck)	3	3	9	Planning travelling route, bring enough oxygen supply
Delayed and prolonged transport (boat)	2	3	6	Planning travelling route bring enough oxygen supply
Fish starved to little prior to transport	5	4	20	Open system, change water if possible
Fish not fit for transport	3	6	18	Abort mission
Weak fish die during transport and disturbs circulation	1	5	5	Remove dead fish if possible. Use extra oxygen supply.
Failure in loading and un-loading equipment	1	6	6	Maintenance
Weather conditions	3	3	9	Planning

Table 7. Emergency situations and counteractions that should be planned for in a closed transport

7.9.6 Additional comments for operations in transporting smolt and fry

The same issues as described for transport of large salmon apply for transport of salmon smolts in open and closed systems. In addition, special concerns during the transport of smolts are addressed below. We have distinguished between the challenges of three different transport situations:

- 1. Open transport
- 2. Closed transport
- 3. Alternating open and closed transport

It is important to note that existing transport regulations may limit the possibilities of carrying out the recommendations mentioned in this report. The points put forward below are discussed only in the context of water quality and fish welfare during transportation in seawater.

Smolt status, the importance of seawater tolerance

The first basic requirement for a meaningful discussion of smolt transport is the smolt status of the fish; specifically to what extent the juvenile salmon have developed seawater tolerance. Methods are available for the assessment of smolt status, e.g., seawater challenge tests and the determination of gill Na^+,K^+ -ATPase activity, and the discussion below builds on the assumption that the fish are fully smoltified. If this is not the case, the fish should not be transported.

1. Open transport

Challenges related to water quality during open transport are primarily the quality of the water which is brought into the well, as well as the ratio between fish biomass and flow through capacity in the well. This is normally not a problem in a modern well-boat. Flow through rate is typically 3-4 times what is normally found in land-based rearing facilities. In most cases the flow through rate is sufficient to provide oxygen and remove metabolic wastes. Based on experience, $35 - 50 \text{ kg}/\text{m}^3$ are considered safe densities when transport is mainly carried out with open valves. Carbon dioxide and ammonia will normally not accumulate to dangerous levels under the conditions described above (Rosten et al., 2004). One important consideration is the risk of exposure is often the cause when acute mortalities

are experienced during open transport. In order to determine the cause of mortality, water samples must be secured quickly, and fish must be taken for autopsy. Similarly, fish transported in open systems run a risk for of becoming infected if the well boat moves through an area with populations of infected fish.

Water quality during open transport, mixing zone chemistry

When two volumes of water with different qualities (pH, ionic strength, metals, salinity and content of organic substances) are mixed, unstable water chemistry is formed from the time of mixing, persisting for some time, depending on temperature. The classic situation is when acid Al-rich fresh water is limed or mixed with NaOH or seawater. The resulting increase in pH causes changes in Al species, from low molecular weight which aggregate to form larger molecules, so called polymers. During this polymerisation, Al becomes increasingly bio-available to the fish gills, before reverting to harmless Al-polymers or colloids after a period of time (minutes – hours depending on temperature, calcium levels and pH; Rosseland et al., 1992; Kroglund et al., 2001).

Series of experiments and the VK studies of KPMG, NIVA and UMB have further documented that a similar phenomenon may occur when small volumes of seawater are added to brown, fresh water, rich in humic acids or water with high clay content (which is harmless as untreated fresh water) to final salinities between 1 - 15 ‰ (Bjerknes et al., 2003; Rosseland et al., 1998, 2002; Strandring et al., 2003; Staurnes et al., 1998). This may happen during loading of smolts, as fresh water rich in humic acids is mixed with seawater in the well, or when the well-boat passes through the estuary of acid or humic rich rivers in narrow fjords. In order to avoid these situations, it is important to separate fresh water during loading of the well-boat so it is not mixed with seawater in the well, and to plan the route through the fjords to avoid passing through estuaries with unstable brackish water.

During transport with open valves through brackish water where metal-rich freshwater meets seawater (known as estuarine mixing zones) smolts may be exposed to aluminium deposition on the gills. Al deposition on gills have been described in relation to mortality of farmed salmon in open cages in fjords with large supply of acid Al-rich fresh water. Mortality is often associated with short-term episodes during winter, when mild weather, snow-melt and rainfall cause heavy run-off and a marked reduction in salinity (from > 20 ‰ to < 10 ‰) and temperatures (from 7 to 4 °C in surface water). The low-salinity surface water may form a layer 5-6 m deep with high concentrations of aluminium (> 100 ug/l). Situations have been described with increase in gill aluminium in farmed salmon from < 10 ug/g under normal conditions to > 200 ug/g during fresh water influence. One of the main reasons for the toxic conditions in the range 1 - 15 ‰ is the increase in ionic strength following seawater mixing mobilises Al bound to humic acids or colloids from the freshwater source (Teien, 2005; Teien et al., 2006). 0+ smolts which are transported in open systems during autumn may be exposed to toxic mixing zones if transported through fjords.

2. Challenges during closed transport

Water quality during closed transport is primarily determined by the fish metabolism. Metabolism increases with increasing temperature, stress level, reduction in fish size, increasing swimming speed/activity and increasing digestion. We are primarily concerned with carbon dioxide, CO_2 , nitrogenous wastes (NH_4^+ and NH_3 , below referred to as TAN), and total organic carbon, TOC.

Temperature during transport is probably the most critical factor for the accumulation of metabolites in transport water. Temperature in the sea is normally highest during late summer and autumn, so transport of 0+ smolts in August – September normally coincides with high temperatures. The fish metabolism will be high, and consequently there will be smaller margins during transport under such conditions. For 0+ smolts which are transported later in the autumn and winter, temperature will be lower and challenges related to metabolism will be reduced.

Production of carbon dioxide is related to oxygen consumption in an approximate 1:1 ratio, while TAN is closer to a 10:1 ratio. Consequently, CO_2 accumulates much faster than TAN levels. CO_2

accumulation in the water causes pH to drop, more so in a freshwater transport than in a seawater transport, caused by the higher buffering capacity of seawater.

For smolt transport in closed systems, field data suggest that CO_2 concentrations should be kept below 45 mg/l. Studies of juveniles in land-based tanks have revealed physiological responses at levels as low as 10 mg/l. However, studies also suggest that high CO_2 levels may be tolerated when water is slightly supersaturated with oxygen. The most common problems from high CO_2 are changes in blood chemistry (increase in p CO_2 , p HCO_3^- , and reduced plasma chloride levels and reduced blood pH, Rosten et al., 2005). Both NH_4^+ and NH_3 are toxic to fish in a dose dependent manner. NH_3 (ammonia) is considered the most toxic component (Knoph, 1995) and is most studied. Experience from practical smolt transport suggests that TAN levels should not exceed 5 mg/l. Studies during transport of 0+ smolts in closed wells suggest that TAN levels of approximately 2 mg/l are achieved at a fish density in the range 25-40 kg/m³ at a water temperature in the range 10-13 °C. Toxicity of ammonia compounds increases at oxygen concentrations below 70 % saturation and in combination with CO_2 above 45 mg/l (Rosten, 2002; Rosten et al., 2002).

3. Challenges during alternating open and closed transport, supply of new seawater

The challenges described for open and closed transport also apply in general for transport which alternates between open and closed system. The most critical factor is the duration of the period with closed valves. Experience suggests that problems occur when opening the valves to supply new seawater after a period of closed transport. This phenomenon is poorly studied; however, theoretical calculations suggest the cause being a sudden change in the ammonia – ammonium equilibrium caused by rapid increase in ionic strength and pH. Replacement of water in a well does not take place without the formation of temporary and unpredictable mixing zones between pockets of old and new water.

During closed transport in seawater, ammonia, NH_3 , always represents the most critical factor for mortality and reduced welfare. The most important precaution is to keep pH below 6, 5 which will drive the equilibrium towards ammonium, maintaining a low ammonia concentration. This situation will normally occur after 1-2 hours of closed transport in seawater, caused by the gradual accumulation of CO_2 (Rosten et al., 2005). Opening the valves and taking in new seawater with pH 8, 2 represents a critical situation with potentially acute ammonia toxicity caused by the pH induced drive of the NH_4^+ - NH_3 equilibrium towards NH_3 . This phenomenon is, however, poorly studied scientifically, and protocols which may prevent this phenomenon are not established, neither scientifically or in practical terms. As a consequence, unloading of smolts must take place without the addition of new water if the transport has been closed. For a well-boat, this means that water from the unloading must be returned to the well.

7.10 Transport of Marine fish

Knowledge on transportation, stress and related welfare considerations in marine fish is scarce. The information in the following chapter is therefore fragmentary relative to the previous chapters on salmonids, and is mostly based upon industrial experiences and in house guidelines.

7.10.1 Atlantic cod

Atlantic cod is regarded as a very promising species in coldwater fish farming, and more attention has been directed toward its culture which has a 20 year history in Norway (King and Berlinsky 2006) and is underway in Iceland, Scotland and Canada (Despatie et al. 2001). However, the effect of transport stress on fish is mainly reported on salmonid species such as Atlantic salmon (Portz et al. 2006). For Atlantic cod there are few studies on the stress response. However, a recent study has shown that Atlantic cod are very sensitive to acute increases in water temperature (Perez-Casanova et al. 2008). Resting levels for cortisol in cod have previously been reported by Staurnes et al., (1994) and the 24

hours recovery time for cortisol levels in cod has previously been reported by King et al. (2006) and King and Berlinsky (2006). Also, the effect of acclimation temperature on the acute stress response in juvenile cod showed that cod responded to a common, acute stressor in a manner similar to other teleosts and it was shown that plasma cortisol returned to baseline levels slower at lower than at higher temperatures (King et al., 2006). In a recent study by Dwyer and Iversen (in prep.), Bodø University College, a comparison of the primary and secondary stress response in Atlantic cod and Atlantic salmon during crowding has been performed. Atlantic cod subjected to multiple crowding stresses exhibited a delayed primary stress response compared to Atlantic salmon. While plasma cortisol in cod returned to pre-stress levels 24 hours after crowding, salmon showed no such recovery even one week after crowding, indicating a more severe stress response in salmon compared to cod. Plasma osmolality, magnesium, and glucose increased in response to crowding in salmon, indicating a possible disturbance in hydromineral and metabolic balance. For cod, no consistent changes in secondary stress responses were observed, with the exception of an increase in magnesium during the recovery period. The results indicate that salmon exhibited a greater primary and secondary stress response than cod. Whether the difference detected in primary stress response in this experiment indicates a delayed response in cod compared to other teleosts, or is simply a result of environmental or experimental factors, warrants further investigation. In adult cod, a delay in the secondary stress response after physical handling was also observed as a consequence of feed composition, Cod fed elevated dietary carbohydrates showed sustained post stress hyperglycaemia as compared to cod fed a non-carbohydrate diet (Hemre et al., 1991). This calls for attention with respect to feed and feeding also for cod prior to transport.

The effect of Aqui-STM sedation (4 mg/l) on the primary and secondary stress responses in salmon and cod, relative to two controls, was also evaluated during crowding Dwyer and Iversen (in prep.). While crowding provoked the primary stress response in the Aqui-S and no-sedation groups, metomidate was effective in blocking cortisol release in Atlantic salmon. In cod, crowding caused significant increases in the primary stress response in all treatment groups compared to resting concentrations. The stressor had no real effect on the secondary stress responses in salmon or cod, with the exception of a possible influence on plasma osmolality in salmon and plasma chloride and glucose in cod. As a sedative, Aqui-STM was ineffective in reducing the primary stress response in both species during crowding. Although metomidate was effective in alleviating the primary stress response in salmon, the anaesthetic did not have this effect on cod. Higher dosages of Aqui-STM (and metomidate) may be needed to reduce or alleviate the primary stress response in Atlantic cod. Since no known published investigations have been done on the efficacy of Aqui-STM as a stress alleviator in cod, further investigation is needed to determine optimal dosages to alleviate the stress response in this species during transportation.

Cod fry is reported to be relatively tolerant to ammonia. No growth limitation where observed for cod fry (3-4 g) during 96 days exposure for $60 \mu \text{g/l NH}_3$ (Foss et al., 2004).

7.10.2 Turbot and halibut

There is very limited published information on transport of turbot and Atlantic halibut. A recent report by Rosten et al (2007) covered aspects of welfare in these species during the production cycle, including comments on transportation. Halibut larval and juvenile stages are often farmed on same sites, while juveniles (30-350 g) are transported by truck, boat and plane (Iceland) to sea sites or marine tank facilities. Until now, slaughter fish are killed and bled at site prior to transport to packing and distribution facilities for markets, and well boats are rarely used. Compared to other farmed species the total production of halibut in Norway is approx 1200 metric tons per year (2006), thus the need for transportation has until now been limited to 60-380 000 juveniles (2003-2006) (Directorate of Fisheries 2007). Future transport of live halibut for slaughter will, however, require development of suitable hauling, transfer and transport equipment. Commercial production of turbot in Norway is estimated to be within 2300 metric ton/y in 2006 (Fiskeridirektoratet 2007); with production of both juveniles and market fish by use of industrial heated water. Today the industry includes importation of juveniles (around 10 gram) from hatcheries to on-growing sites, with three days truck transports from Spain to Norway. In such closed transportation, water is supplied with oxygen and is ventilated, and the fish is cooled to approx 10 °C. Like halibut, market fish is slaughtered at site and then transported to packing and distribution facilities. Transport of juveniles between 1-3 g is commonly carried out by air transport where weight limitations apply.

In all aquaculture, it is in the interest of all parties to transport the fish as carefully as possible, with fish welfare in focus (HSA 2007). However, published best practices are not available. Experiences are drawn and practices adjusted according to the running situation and this do not always allow control of all transport parameters. An example of practical transportation guide for flatfishes, extracted from personal information from Dr. J. Stoss (leading competence at Stolt Seafarm AS, Øye, Norway) is presented in Appendix II. The given welfare indicators are in line with those discussed by Rosten et al. (2007).

Transport of marine species has to be differentiated into (1) Short term transport (< 24 hrs; available oxygen) or (2) Long time transport (> 24 hrs; water pH regulation and CO_2 cleaning necessary, in addition to oxygen supply). Further, it is important to differentiate the physiological status of the juveniles, ranging from newly metamorphosed juveniles to completely bottom staying fish. Younger fish seem to cope less well with low water temperatures during transport, due to physiological disturbances and osmoregulation problems (Staurnes 2001).

Indicators of final outcome represent good and objective measures of a correct and safe transport with respect to welfare and health:

- 1. A correct transport should not result in increased mortality compared to normal farming (< 0.1%).
- 2. The fish should be interested in feed in few hrs after entering the receiving unit, however dependent on temperature and body size. Fish (juveniles until 100 g) that do not feed within 24 hrs represent an unacceptable transport. Larger fish like brood fish or market sized fish will however be stressed by any transport and will typically not eat in several days.
- 3. Traumatic damages related to high densities should be avoided; typical injuries include physical eye damages from collisions, fin and tail bleeding, haemorrhages at the blind side, high mucus losses etc.

8. Assessment

8.1 Question no 1

"Which circumstance or circumstances might put the fishes' welfare at risk? If several such circumstances exist, do these evolve independently of one another or do they influence one another in any manner?"

The fitness of the fish will influence the welfare of the fish during and after transportation. There is a significant risk of compromising the welfare if the fish is not in a physiological equilibrium when being transported. Diseased fish will be especially vulnerable to transportation. The severity will depend on the nature and stage of the disease. Ideally, from a welfare point of view, such fish should not be transported.

Loading and unloading of the fish are stressful processes that may even cause physical damage to the fish. Special care should be taken when fish is transferred from one water temperature to another. A rapid drop in temperature is generally considered to create more stress than a temperature increase. The loading and unloading stress must be compensated by adding sufficient oxygen to the transport water to avoid hypoxia and metabolic stress due to hyperlacticemia.

In a closed transportation system the aquatic environment within the container will deteriorate due to the accumulation of metabolites and to oxygen consumption. The concentration of carbon dioxide, total ammonia nitrogen (TAN), particles and total organic carbon will increase with time and the pH of water and oxygen concentrations will decrease. If left uncorrected, these alterations will, depending upon concentrations and duration, result in a deleterious aquatic environment, which eventually may be lethal for the fish. This can occur within a relatively short time period (20 to 30 minutes) if replacement oxygen is not provided.

Since seawater has a far higher buffer capacity than fresh water; transportation in fresh water will normally be associated with greater risks. This is due to chemical relationships involving both CO_2 and TAN.

As it is the metabolism of the fish that results in the alterations in the chemistry of the transport water, these changes will be influenced by various attributes of the transported fish, including species, size, life-stage, activity, feed intake and stress levels. Conditions associated with a risk of reduced welfare are therefore biomass and transport duration, in addition to those factors that may result in alterations in the chemical equilibrium of the water. The water parameters that, both individually and synergistically have the greatest risk associated with reduced welfare, are concentrations of oxygen, carbon dioxide, and ammonia. Important chemical interactions between these three water parameters are related changes a) in CO_2 , pH and NH_3 ; b) CO_2 and O_2 levels; and c) O_2 and NH_3 levels.

Finally, fitness of the fish, water chemistry and temperature will all interact in a complicated manner with influence on coping and welfare.

Emergency situations which include the risk scenarios given above may also arise from breakdown of equipment, technical failure, bad weather conditions, road conditions and other unforeseen external and human factors.

8.2 Question no 2

"Do problems occur after a specific period of time in the transport container, or will the time lapse before the onset of problems be dependent on various specific factors?"

The biomass, size of the fish, time of pre transport starvation as well as temperature and general water quality (fresh- and seawater) are all important factors for the time lapse before water quality problems occur.

With respect to oxygen concentration, problems will occur within minutes should the holding water not be compensated for by provisional oxygen.

Total ammonia nitrogen (TAN) accumulates en route in the transport vessel or unit. In association with water changes in transit or with discharge, there is an increased risk of ammonia poisoning as a result of a rapid increase in water pH. The push of equilibrium towards production of toxic un-ionised ammonia can occur in a matter of minutes.

Water carbon dioxide production will lower the pH and thereby reduce the formation of ammonia from the increasing TAN, but it will on the other hand be stressful acting negatively on the acid-base balance in the fish. Carbon dioxide increase in water will rapidly cause an increase in carbon dioxide partial pressure in the fish blood that affects the oxygen binding to haemoglobin. This leads to increased requirement for available oxygen either by lowering the water temperature, increased oxygen supply, or a combination of both. The accumulation of CO_2 in the blood (hypercapnia) is compensated physiologically by increase in plasma bicarbonate. The rapidness and the magnitude of the CO_2 accumulation are important, since the fish has a limited possibility for adaptation. In such cases it is important to avoid extra acid base stress that might arise from hypoxia and struggling, causing pH drop in muscle and blood due to hyperlacticemia. There is reason to believe that there is an interaction between CO_2 levels in the water and the toxicity of ammonia, especially at simultaneously low dissolved oxygen levels in the transport water.

8.3 Question no 3

"Is it possible to prevent the occurrence of circumstances that compromise the welfare of the fish? If so, outline the necessary or relevant measures applicable".

It is entirely or partially possible to avoid those conditions which result in reduced welfare, depending upon the individual transport circumstances. Hypoxia can be prevented by adding extra oxygen to the transport water. One may avoid hyperoxia by using feedback controlled oxygenation systems. Hypercapnia may be counteracted by using water treatment, like degassing. The size of the degassing pump must be adapted to the CO_2 production rate of the biomass in the transport and the degassing efficiency. The risk for total gas pressure above 100 % can be counteracted by running the degassing system prior to loading the fish into a closed system. This procedure will ensure that any compressed air from filling the well or starting the circulation system will evacuate and water will adjust towards equilibrium. Ammonia poisoning can be avoided by keeping the pH in a safe area, suggested to be in lower limit range 6.2 - 6, 5, and avoid rapid pH rise due to intake of new water volumes with higher pH. Un-loading of fish is a typical risk operation which can cause such pH rise, but this can be counteracted by using technical solutions like moving bulkhead and the return of transportwater to the well. Models for transport lengths and loads based on critical water chemistry parameters can be developed but are not commonly in use in the transport business today.

Excessive formation of foam due to oxygenating and degassing of transport water, especially in seawater during summer season, is a known problem during closed transport. This can be partly counteracted by using different kind of skimmers. The process might on the other hand be a way to treat the water in a closed system.

High metabolism will result in reduced water quality. Metabolism can be lowered by introducing an adequate period (3-5 days) of starving the fish prior to transportation, transport the fish at a lowered temperature, and reducing the stress and swimming activity.

In order to minimise the risks, the fish needs to be disease free and in good physiological condition, Atlantic salmon smolts needs to be completely smoltified before transportation. Care should be taken during loading and unloading to reduce stress and physical damage. If the freshwater at the smolt farm contain particles, humus or freshwater with high aluminium content, the well boat should not mix seawater and freshwater from tanks. A fish/water separation should be used at the boat level.

If flooding from neighbouring rivers creates a brackish environment when loading smolts from a smolt farm, the well boat should not have open valves during loading but use tanks filled with full salinity.

If the well boat has used closed transportation, fresh seawater should not be mixed into the wells during unloading at the netpen rearing site to avoid ammonia formation at pH increase. The risk is modulated by the accumulated TAN levels (biomass and transport length)

Since the exposure is derived from concentration multiplied with time, the overall risk associated with exposure to unfavourable water qualities in a closed transportation can in general be reduced by decreasing the transportation time and reducing the fish density.

The concentrations of oxygen, nitrogen and carbon dioxide should be carefully monitored during the transportation. Monitoring equipment should be properly maintained and calibrated prior to transportation. It is important that crew on the well boat and the driver on the transporting trucks are well trained in transportation routines and emergency plans. A closed transportation system is more vulnerable to technical failures and requires more skill to operate and to handle in emergency situations according to action plans.

Anaesthetics for use in commercial fish transports in Norway (aquaculture and compensatory releases) have not been performed yet. This method has yet to be licensed both in Norway and in the rest of Europe and more studies have to be performed if this method is to be implemented in commercial fish transports. In view of the positive research results using anaesthesia, this may, however, be an alternative strategy for increasing fish welfare during transport leading to better survival and growth of fish at the releasing site.

8.4 Question no 4

"Does the reduction in water temperature in itself have a negative welfare implication? Could the reduction in water temperature result in the reactions of the fish becoming difficult or impossible to observe, and thus make the interpretation of their welfare status more difficult?"

Large and rapid changes in water temperature will affect water chemistry, as well as the physiology and the behaviour of the fish, and will thereby have the potential to influence fish welfare.

Gradual reduction in water temperature prior to or during transportation will however contribute to reduced risk for welfare problems by decreasing the metabolism and stress responses in the fish, and by increasing the oxygen saturation level in the transport water. These factors will all to some extent reduce the impact on water quality during transportation.

However, too rapid temperature reduction will result in thermal stress, which can be lethal. This might happen when the fish are transferred from one water temperature to another during loading or unloading. It is therefore recommended that the temperature is gradually reduced, either in the rearing facility or within the transport container.

Because fish are less active at low temperatures, the temperature reduction makes it more difficult to interpret behaviour associated with compromised welfare induced by osmotic disturbances, handling injuries, changes in water quality or too rapid cooling.

Indication from studies of closed transport in Scotland points in the direction that a combination of mild CO_2 accumulation, mild lowering of transport water temperature and sufficient oxygen supply generates a slower and less responsive fish, with high slaughtering quality (long pre-rigor time). Longer rigor time is normally regarded as positive for fish welfare.

8.5 Question no 5

"Can the water temperature be reduced in such a manner that the welfare of the fish is not put at risk?"

Gradual cooling will reduce the risk of thermal stress and decreased welfare. However, there is limited knowledge on clearly-defined optimal rates for temperature reduction for different species and for different transport conditions. If welfare is measured by death-rate, slaughter quality, oxygen saturation of the blood, ion regulation and blood glucose concentration, field data show that that cooling of salmon at the rate of 1.5 °C per hour after a restitution period is of minimal risk and constitute a rule of thumb. However, if other welfare indicators are used (e.g. behaviour and cortisol concentrations), it is more difficult to provide a defined level at which welfare risk is compromised. Current knowledge indicate that 6 °C is a lower limits for targeted water cooling, while experiences show that salmon can acclimate to 4,5 °C given sufficient time to acclimate.

9. Conclusions

Transportation of life fish will always imply some kind of risk. The fitness of the fish will have great impact on the risks associated with transportation. Sick or immunocompromized fish will be extremely vulnerable and should not be transported. Care should be taken to minimize handling stress prior to and during transportation.

Open system transportation is generally considered to be less risky than transportation in closed systems. However, the risks connected with closed systems can to a greater extend be subject to calculations and modelling than risks in opens systems. This is because the open system is exposed to ambient environment and its natural fluctuations in temperature and changes in water chemistry. Scientific data on large scale closed systems are few, and risk modelling depend to a large extend on empiric data from the industry and experiments conducted in laboratory facilities.

Transportation in closed systems requires water treatment, as well as systems for observation of fish and monitoring of water quality. Consequently, well trained crew and skills to handle emergency situations are needed.

The metabolism of the fish will influence the water chemistry and thus the welfare of the fish during transportation. With the exception of very young fish (larvae), all fish should be starved at least for a period of three to five days before as well as under transportation.

It is difficult to give exact upper safe limits for water chemistry parameters, since many of the parameters interact in a complicated manner. However, some figures derived from industry experience exist and they are included in this report. These values should be used with care and considered as guidelines.

Oxygen, carbondioxide and TAN represent limiting factors during closed transports. While elevated carbon dioxide often is a first limiting factor in the transport water, it can be degassed by increased dimensions of water treatment system. There is, however, a risk that the gained improvement in water quality is used for optimising transport biomass, and thereby risks for elevated TAN and pH, and eventually toxic un-ionised ammonia. In closed transportations of salmon fingerlings and smolt, the concentration of CO_2 should be below 20 mg/L. At transportation of fish for slaughter with chilled water, the light sedation due to accumulation of CO_2 is considered beneficial. Thus, a higher concentration of CO_2 up to 30 mg could be accepted. This will depend on biomass, temperature and duration of transportation.

It is not possible to give an exact limit for the maximum transportation time in a closed system. This will depend on fish species, density, and temperature and water treatment in the transport unit. Transportation in closed systems should be as short as possible, both in distance and time, while extended transportations should be performed with reduced biomasses. By adding seawater to reach a salinity of 1 %, the buffer capacity in fresh water will increase and the risks associated with accumulation of CO₂ and mixing of different water qualities will to some extent be reduced. Necessarily treatment of the seawater must be applied.

Accumulation of CO_2 and TAN is faster in warmer water in the autumn when 0+ smolts are transported. The risk for the fish welfare problems is thus probably higher for transportation of 0+ smolts than in 1+ smolts due to weather and climatic conditions. Field data suggest that the toxicity of nitrogenous wastes and CO_2 can be reduced to a certain degree by keeping oxygen concentration around 100 %. The risk can be be avoided by proper planning.

A lowering of the water temperature during transportation can reduce the impact of several factors on fish physiology and welfare. The temperature reduction must be carried out with great care and is recommended not to exceed 1, 5 °C/hr. For Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, the transportation temperature should not aim to be below 6 °C.

9.1 Future needs

An increase in transportation of life fish in closed system will require an upgrading of the present well boat fleet and transportation trucks with respect to systems for water treatment and monitoring, quality control and education of the crew.

9.2 Knowledge needs

Most of the information used in the assessment is either based on small scale laboratory studies or on industry derived experience. There is a clear need for more scientific based knowledge on most of the aspects related to transportation of live fish in closed systems.

Use of sedatives like clove oil, may have an overall beneficial impact on the welfare of fish during transportation. More scientific data is needed before firm conclusion can be reached.

The effects of a combination of low CO_2 -level, slight reduction of temperature and sufficient oxygen levels have to be studied more in detail to explain the responses (physiology, behaviour and flesh quality) of the fish during a controlled closed and cooled transport.

- Further physiological testing of fish response during transport (helicopter, truck and wellboat) and a special attention should be given to marine species such as Atlantic cod, turbot etc. where there exists little knowledge of the fish response during transport
- Test the use of anaesthetics (e.g. clove oil), salt addition etc. as stress reducers during transport in small and big scale experiments

10. References

Adams, S.M. 2002. Biological indicators of aquatic ecosystem stress. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD, 644 pp.

Alanärä, A., Winberg, S., Brännäs, E., Kiessling, A, Höglund, E. and Elofsson, U. 1997. Feeding behaviour, brain serotonergic activity and energy reserves of Arctic charr (Salvelinus alpinus) within a dominance hierarchy. Can. J. Zool. 76: 212-220.

Alabaster, J.S. and Lloyd. R. 1982. Water quality criteria for freshwater fish. 2nd edition. Butterworth Scientific, London. 361 sider.

Alderdice DF (1988) Osmotic and ionic regulation in teleost eggs and larvae. In: Hoar WS, Randall DJ (eds) Fish physiology, Vol XI. The physiology of developing fish. Part A Eggs and larvae. Academic Press, New York, p 163-251

Allen, J. L. 1988. Residues of benzocaine in rainbow trout, largemouth bass, and fish meal. Prog. Fish-Cult. 50 (1): 59-60.

Anderson, W. G., McKinley, R. S. and Colavecchia, M., 1997. The use of Clove oil as an anaesthetic for Rainbow trout and its effects on swimming performance. N. Am. J. Fish. Man. 17: 301-307.

Ashley, P.J. 2007. Fish welfare: Current issues in aquaculture. Appl. Animal Beh. Sci. 104: 199-235.

Aveyard, R; Clint, JH. Foam and thin film breakdown processes. Current Opinion in Collid and Interface Science, 1996 1 (6), 764-770

Aunsmo, A, Bruheim, T, Sandberg, M, Skjerve E, Romstad S, Larssen RB (2008). Dødlighet og årsaker til dødelighet hos norsk oppdrettslaks første måneder etter utsett. Programkonferansen Havbruk 2008, Tromsø

Azam, K., Mackie, I. M. and Smith, J. (1989). The effect of slaughter method on the quality of rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) during storage on ice. Int. J. Food Sci. Tech. 24, 69-79.

Basu, S.P. (1959) Active respiration of fish in relation to ambient concentrations of oxygen and carbon dioxide. J. Fish. Res. Board. Can. 16 . 175-212.

Barton, B. A., Iwama, G. K. 1991. Physiological changes in fish from stress in aquaculture with emphasis on the response and effects of corticosteriods. Ann. Rev. Fish Dis.: 3-26.

Barton, B.A. 2002. Stress in fishes: A diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticostreroids. Integr. Comp. Biol. 42: 517-525.

Barton, B.A and Schreck C.B. (1987). Metabolic cost of acute physical stress in juvenile Steelhead. Transactions of the Amercan Fisheries Society 116, 257-263.

Beamish, F.W.H. and Thomas E. (1984). Effects of dietary protein and lipid on nitrogen losses in raimnbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Aquaculture 41, 359-371.

Beitinger, T. L. 1990. Behavioral reactions for the assessment of stress in fishes. J. Great Lakes Res. 16: 495-528.

Bernier, N.J, and Peter, R.E. 2001. The hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal axis and the control of food intake in teleost fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 129: 639-644.

Bernier, N.J. and Randall, D.J. (1998) Carbon dioxide anaesthesia in rainbow trout: effects of hypercapnic level and stress on induction and recovery from anaesthetic treatment. J. Fish. Biol., 52, 621-637.

Baeverfjord G. and Krogdahl Å. 1996. Development and regression of soybean meal induced

enteritis in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., distal intestine: a comparison with the intestines of fasted fish. J. Fish Dis. 19, 375–387

Blancheton, J.P., Piedrahita, R., Eding, E.H., Roque d'Orbcastel E., Lemarie G., Bergheim, A., Fivelstad, S. 2007. Intensication of landbased aquaculture production in single pass and reuse systems. (In Aquaculture Engineering and Environment. Eds. A. Bergheim. Research Signpost.

Braithwaite, V. A. and Huntingford, F. A. (2004). Fish and welfare: do fish have the capacity for pain perception and suffering. Animal Welfare 13, 87-92.

Brett, J.R , Glass N.R. (1973) Oxygen consumption and critical swimming speeds of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*)in relation to size and temperature. Journ. Of Fish. Res. Borad of Can. 30, 379-387.

Brett, J.R, Groves, T.D.D (1979). Physiological energetics. In: Fish Physiology Vol. VIII (ed. By W.S. Hoar, D.J. Randall and J.R. Brett), pp 279-352. Academic press, New York

Bjerknes, V., Fyllingen, I., Holtet, L., Teien, H.-C., Rosseland, B.O. and Kroglund, F. 2003. Aluminium in acidic river water causes mortality of farmed Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar L.) in Norwegian fjords - Marine Chemistry, Volume 83, Issues 3-4, November 2003: 169-174.

Bjerknes, V., Liltved, H., Rosseland, B.O., Rosten, T., Skjelkvåle, B.L., Stefansson, S., og Åtland, Å. (redaktører) 2007. Vannkvalitet og smoltproduksjon. Juul forlag. 240 s, ISBN 978-82-8090-018-0.

Briozzo, J. L., Chirife, J., Herzage, L. and D'Aquino, M. 1989. Antimicrobial activity of clove oil dispersed in a concentrated sugar solution. J. App. Bact. 66: 69-75.

Broom, D. M. 1996: Animal welfare defined in terms of attempts to cope with the environment. Acta Agric.Scand. Sec. A. Anim. Sci. Suppl. 27: 22-28

Bruce A. Barton, B.A. 2000. Salmonid Fishes Differ in Their Cortisol and Glucose Responses to transport Stress. North American Journal of Aquaculture 2000;62:12–18

Burka, J. F., Hammel, K. L., Horsberg, T. E., Johnson, G. R., Rainnie, D. J. and Spears, D. J. 1997. Drugs in salmonid aquaculture – A review. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Therap. 20: 333-349.

Chandroo, K. P., Yue, S. and Moccia, R. D. (2004). An evaluation of current perspectives on consciousness and pain in fishes. Fish and Fisheries 5, 281-295.

Carmichael, G.J., Tomasso, J.R., Sinnco, B.A. and Davis, K.B. 1984. Characterization and alleviation of stress associated with hauling largemouth bass. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 113: 778-785.

Cho, G. K. and Heath, D. D. 2000. Comparison of tricane metanesuphonate (MS222) and clove oil anaesthesia effects on the physiology of juvenile chinook salomon *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*. Aqua. Res. 31: 537-546.

Cooke, S.J., Suski, C.D., Ostrand, K.G., Tufts, B.T. and Wahl, D.H. 2004. Behavioral and physiological assessment of low concentrations of clove oil anaesthetic for handling and transporting largemouth bass (*Microptherus salmoides*). Aquaculture 239: 509-529.

Dawkins, M.S. (2004). Using behaviour to assess animal welfare. Animal Welfare 13, 3-7.

Deng L., Zhang W.M., Lin H.R. and Cheng C.H.K. 2004. Effects of food deprivation on expression of growth hormone receptor and proximate composition in liver of black seabream

Acanthopagrus schlegeli. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part B 137, 421-432.

Despatie, S.P.M., Castonguay, D., and Audet, C. 2001. Final thermal preferendum of Atlantic cod: effect of food ration. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 130: 263-275.

Doe. 1994. Handbook of methods for the Analysis of the Various Parameters of the Carbon Dioxide System in Sea Water. Version 2. (Eds. A.G. Dickson and C. Goyet). ORNL/CDIAC-74.

Duncan IJH (2004). Pain, fear and distress. Proceedings, global conference on animal welfare: an OIE initiative. Paris, 23-25 February 2004. ISBN 92-894-6614-6. 163-172.

Donaldson, E. M. (1981). The pituary-interrenal axis as an indicator of stress in fish. In Stress and Fish. ed. Pickering, A. D., pp. 11-48. Academic Press, London.

Dwyer, S. and Iversen, M. 2008. The primary and secondary stress response in Atlantic cod (*Cadus morhua* L.) and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) during crowding, and the efficacy of Aqui-STM as a stress reducer. In prep.

Einarsdóttir, I. E., Nilssen. K. J. and Iversen, M. 2000. Effects of rearing stress on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) antibody response to non-pathogenic antigen. Aqua. Res. 31: 923-931.

Einen O., Waagan B. and Thomassen M.S. (1998) Starvation prior to slaughter in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) I. Effects on weight loss, body shape, slaughter- and fillet-yield, proximate and fatty acid composition. Aquaculture 166, 85–104.

Ellis, A. E. 1981. Stress and the modulation of defence mechanisms in fish. In: Pickering, A. D. (Ed.), Stress and Fish. Academic Press, London, 147-169.

Ellis, T., North, B., Scott, A.P., Bromage, N.P., Porter, M. and Gadd, D. 2002. The relationship between stocking density and welfare in farmed rainbow trout. J. Fish. Biol. 61: 493-531.

Elliott, J.M. 1981. Some aspects of thermal stress on freshwater teleosts. In: Pickering, A. D. (Ed.), Stress and Fish. Academic Press, London, 209-245.

Environmental Protection Agency. 1986. Quality criteria for water. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency EPA 440/5-86-001.

Erickson, U., Sigholt, T. and Seland, A. 1997. Handling stress and water quality during live transportation and slaughter of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 149: 243-252.

Erikson, U, Sverdrup, A., Steen J.E., Rosten, T. (1998). Superoksygenering under transport av slaktelaks – effect på kjøttkvalitet. Sluttrapport NFR 119617/121.

Elvevoll, E.O., N.K. Sorenson, B. Osterud, R. Ofstad and I. Martinez. 1996. Processing of Marine Foods. Meat Sci. 43: 265-275.

Faergemand, J., Røsholdt, B., Alsted, N. and Børresen, T. (1995). Fillet texture of rainbow trout as affected by feeding strategy, slaughtering procedure and storage post mortem. Water Science Technology 31, 225-231

FAIR CT98 4003, DNA vaccines for aquaculture: Development and testing of plasmid vectors for vaccination against bacterial and viral fish pathogens.2002. Final report.

Fevolden, S., Røed, K.H., and Fjalestad, K. 2003. A combined salt and confinement stress enhanches mortality in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) selected for high stress responsiveness. Aquaculture 216: 67-76.

Finstad, B., Staurnes, M. and Reite, O.B. 1988. Effect of low temperature on sea-water tolerance in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. Aquaculture 72: 319-328.

Finstad, B., Iversen, M. and Sandodden, R. 2003. Stress reducing methods for release of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolts in Norway. Aquaculture 222: 203-214.

Finstad, B., Kroglund, F., Strand, R., Stefansson, S.O., Bjørn, P.A., Rosseland, B.O., Nilsen, T.O. and Salbu, B. 2007. Salmon lice or suboptimal water quality – Reasons for reduced postsmolt survival? Aquaculture 273: 374-383.

Fivelstad, S., Smith, M. (1991). The oxygen consumption rate of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) Reared in single pass landbased seawater system. Aquacult. Ing. 9, 1-21.

http://www.fiskeridir.no/fiskeridir/kystsone_og_havbruk/statistikk/publikasjoner/n_kkeltall_fra_norsk _havbruksn_ring.

Fivelstad, S., Olsen, A. B., Kløften, H., Ski, H., W., Stefansson, S. 1999. Effects of carbon dioxide for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) smolts at constant pH in bicarbonate rich freshwater. Aquaculture 178, 171-187.

Fivelstad, S., Olsen, A.B., Wågbø, R., Zeitz, S, Hosfeld, A.-C.-D., Stefansson, S. 2003. A major water quality problem in smolt farms: Combined effects of carbon dioxide and reduced pH (Al) on Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) smolts. Aquaculture, 215, 339-357.

Forsberg, O.I. (1994). Modelling oxygen consumption rates of post-smolt Atlantic salmon in commercial-scale landbased farms. Aquac. Ing. 10, 227-235.

Forsberg, O.I. (1997). The impact of varying feeding regimes on oxygen consumption and excreation of carbon dioxide and nitrogen in post-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture Research, 28, 29-41.

Foss, S.I. Siikavuopio, B.-S. Sæther and T.H. Evensen, Effect of chronic ammonia exposure on growth in juvenile Atlantic cod, Aquaculture 237 (2004), pp. 179–189.

Fløysand, R. (1993). The atrial accumulation of adrenaline: functional aspects in response to stress in aquacultured Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). University of Bergen.

Fiskeridirektoratet 2007. Nøkkeltall fra norsk havbruksnæring. http://www.fiskeridir.no/fiskeridir/kystsone_og_havbruk/statistikk/publikasjoner/n_kkeltall_fra_norsk havbruksn_ring

Fraser D (2004). Applying science to animal welfare standards. Proceedings. Global

conference on animal welfare: na OIE initiative. Paris, 23-25 February 2004. 121-135.

Fries, C. R. 1986. Effects of environmental stressors and immunosuppressants on immunity in *Fundulus heteroclitus*. Am. Zool. 26: 271-282.

Frisch, AJ. and Anderson, TA. 2000. The response of coral trout (Plectropomus leopardus) to capture, handling and transport and shallow water stress. Fish Physiol. Biochem. Vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 23-34.

FSBI, 2000. Fish Welfare. Briefing Paper 2, Fisheries Society of the British Isles,

Granta Information Systems, 82 A High Street, Cambridge CB2 4H.

Gallaugher, P., Thorarensen, H., Kiessling, A. and Farrell, A.P. 2001. Effects of high intensity exercise training on cardiovascular function, O2 uptake, internal O2 transport and osmotic balance in chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) during critical speed swimming. J. Exp. Biol. 204: 2861-2872.

Girard J.P and P. Payan (1980) Ion exchange through respiratory and chloride cell inn freshwater – and seawater –adapted teleostans. Am. J. Physiol. 238, R260-R268.

Gomes L.C., Araujo-Lima C.A.R.M., Roubach R., Chippari-Gomes A.R. and Lopes N.P. 2003. Effect of fish density during transportation on stress and mortality of juvenile tambaqui *Colossoma macropomum*. J. World Aq. Soc. 34, 76-84.

Grøttum J.A., Staurnes M., Sigholt T. 1997. Effect of oxygenation, aeration and pH control on water quality and survival of turbot, *Scophthalmus maximus* (L.), kept at high densities during ransport. Aq. Res. 28, 159-164.

Grøttum, J.A. and Sigholt, T. (1998). A model for oxygen consumption of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) based on measurements of individual fish in a tunnel respirometer. Aquaculture Engineering 18, 241-251.

Hamre, K, Kjersti Kolås, Kjartan Sandnes, Kåre Julshamn, Anders Kiessling. 2002. Feed intake and absorption of lipid oxidation products in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed diets coated with oxidised fish oil. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 25:209-219

Hemre, G.I., Lambertsen, G. & Lie. 0. (1991) The effect of dietary carbohydrate on the stress response in cod (Gadus morhua).

Aquaculture. 95, 3, 19-328.

Horsberg, T. E. and Samuelsen, O. B. 1999. Behandling. In: Poppe, T. (Ed.). Fiskehelse og fiskesykdommer. Universitetsforlaget, Oslo, Norway, 324-338 (In Norwegian).

Houston, A.H. and Schrapp, M.P. 1994. Thermoacclimatory haematological response: have we been using appropriate conditions and assessement methods? Can. J. Zool. 72: 1238-1243.

HSA (Humane Slaughter Association) 2007. Compiled report from a meeting on *Fish welfare during transport*, Thistle Hotel, Inverness, Oct 25th 2006, pp. 32.

Ingvast-Larsson, J. C Axén, V. C. and Kiessling, A. 2003. Effects of isoeugenol on rat phrenic nervediaphragm preparations. American Journal of Veterinarian Research 64:690-693.

Iversen, M., Finstad, B. and Nilssen, K.J. 1998. Recovery from loading and transport stress in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolts. Aquaculture 168: 387-394.

Iversen, M., Finstad, B., McKinley, R.S. and Eliassen, R. 2003. The efficacy of metomidate, clove oil, Aqui-STM and Benzoak^R as anaesthetics in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolts, and their potential stress-reducing capacity. Aquaculture 221: 549-566.

Iversen, M., Finstad, B., McKinley, R.S., Eliassen, R. A., Carlsen, K.T. and Evjen, T. 2005. Stress responses in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolts during commercial well boat transports, and effects on survival after transfer to sea. Aquaculture 243: 373-382.

Iversen, M., Eliassen, R.A. and Martens, L.G. 2004. Transport of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolts in Puerto Montt, Chile. The effects of high and low transport densities on primary, secondary and tertiary stress responses. NF-rapport nr. 18/2004. ISBN-nr.: 82-7321-518-0, 26 pp.

Iwama, G.K., Pickering, A.D., Sumpter, J.P. and Schreck, C.B. 1997. Fish stress and health in aquaculture. University Press, Cambridge. 278 pp.

Iwama, G.K., Afonso, L.O.B. and Vijayan, M.M. 2006. Stress in fishes. In: Ewans, D.E. and Claiborne, J.B. (Eds.), The Physiology of Fishes. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 319-342.

Iwama, K. G. and Ishimatsu, A. (1994). Cannulation of blood wessels. In Techniques in Fish Immunology (Stolen, J. S., et al., ed.), 1-15. Fair Haven, USA: SOS Publications.

Jerrett, A. R. and Holland, A. J. (1998). Rigor tension development in excised "rested", "partially exercised" and "exhausted" chinook salmon white muscle. Journal of Food Science 63, 48-52.

Jerrett, A. R., Stevens, J. and Holland, A. J. (1996). Tensile properties of white muscle in rested and exhausted chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). Journal of Food Science 61, 527-532.

Jittinandana, S., Kenney, P. B., Mazik, P. M., Danley, M., Nelson, C. D., Kiser, R. A. and Hankis, J. A. (2005). Transport and stunning affect quality of arctic char fillets. Journnal of Muscle Food 16, 274-288.

Johansson, D., Ruohonen, K., Kiessling, A., Oppedal, F., Stiansen, J-E., Kelly, M. and Juell, J-E. Effect of environmental factors on swimming depth preferences of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) and temporal and spatial variations in O2 levels in sea-cages at a fjord site. In Press Aquaculture.

Johansson, D., Ruohonen, K., Kiessling, A., Oppedal, F., Stiansen, J-E., Kelly, M. and Juell, J-E. Effect of environmental factors on swimming depth preferences of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) and temporal and spatial variations in O2 levels in sea-cages at a fjord site. In Press Aquaculture

Kaushik, S.J. (1980) Influence of nutrional status on the daily patterns og nitrogen excretion in the carp (*Cyprinus Carpio* L.) and the rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Reproduction Nutrition Development. 20. (6), 1751-1765.

Keene, J. L., Noakes, D. L., Moccia, R. D. and Soto, C. G. 1998. The efficacy of clove oil as an anaesthetic for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aqua. Res. 29: 89-101.

Kiessling, A, Dosanjh, B, Higgs, D., Deacon, G and Rowshandeli, N. 1995. Dorsal aorta cannulation; a method to monitor changes in blood levels of astaxanthin in voluntarily feeding Atlantic salmon. Aquacultur Nutrition, 1:43-50.

Kiessling, A., Espe, M., Ruohonen, K. and Mørkøre, T. 2004. Texture, gaping and colour of fresh and frozen Atlantic salmon flesh as affected by pre-slaughter iso-eugenol or CO2 anaesthesia. Aquaculture Vol 236/1-4 pp 645-657.

Kiessling, A, Olsen, R-E and Buttle, L. 2003. Given the same dietary inclusion Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar (L.) display higher blood levels of canthaxanthin than astaxanthin. Aquaculture Nutrition 9: 253-262.

Kiessling, A., Kristenesen, T., Djordjevic, B., Øverli, Ø., Höglund, E. Lekang O.I. and Rosseland, B.O. 2005. The use of anaesthetics and analgesics to implement the 3 R's: practical examples. Harmonisation of the Care and Use of Fish in Research, Gardemon May 2005, pp 13-14.

Knoph, M.B. 1996. Gill ventilation frequency and mortality of atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) exposed to high ammonia levels in seawater. Wat. Res. Vol 30, No 4, pp 837-842.

Kiessling, A., Dosanjh, B., Higgs, D., Deacon, G. and Rowshandeli, N. (1995). Dorsal aorta cannulation: a method to monitor changes in blood levels of astaxanthin in voluntarily feeding Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. Aquaculture Nutrition 1, 43-50.

Kiessling, A., Johansson, D., Axen, C. and Johansson, B. 2001. Anestesi och anelgesi vid vaccinering av lax. In Havbruksrapporten 2001, Fisken og havet, særnr. 3 2001. Ed. R.E.Olsen and T.Hansen.

Kristensen, T. og Rosseland, B.O. 2005. Sammenlikning av to analysemetoder for CO2 i intensiv smoltproduksjon. NIVA Rapport LNR 5042-2005, 19 s. ISBN 82-577-4747-5

Kroglund, F., Teien, H.-C., Rosseland, B.O. & Salbu, B. 2001. Time and pH-dependent detoxification of aluminum in mixing zones between acid and non-acid rivers. - Water, Air, and Soil Pollut. 130: 905-910.

Kroglund, F., Finstad, B., Stefansson, S.O., Kristensen, T., Rosseland, B.O., Teien, H-C. & Salbu, B. 2007. Exposure to moderate acid water and aluminium reduces Atlantic salmon post-smolt survival. Aquaculture 273: 360 – 373.

Kieffer, J.D. 2000. Limits to exhaustive exercise in fish. Comp. Biochem. Phyisol. A. 126: 161-179.

King, W. and Berlinsky, D.L. 2006. Whole-body corticosteroid and plasma cortisol concentrations in larval and juvenile Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua* L. following acute stress. Aquacult. Res. 37: 1282-1289.

King, V.W., Buckley, L.J. and Berlinsky, D.L. 2006. Effect of temperature on the acute stress response in juvenile Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua* L., and haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* L. Aquacult. Res. 37: 1685-1693.

Knudsen, F. R. (1994). Behavioral, physiological and cellular aspects of stress in fish. University of Oslo.

Lancelot C., Billen G., Sournia A., Weisse T., Colijn F., Veldhuis MJW, Davies A. og Wassman P. (1987) Phaeocystis blooms and nutrient enrichment in the continental coastal zones of the north sea. Ambio 16(1), 38-46.

Liltved, H., Rosseland, B.O., Vogelsang, C. og Åtland, Å. 2007. Vannbehandling. . I: Bjerknes, V. (red.) Vannkvalitet og smoltprodusjon, Kapittel 5, side 159-184, Juul forlag, ISBN 978-82-8090-018-0.

Lygren, B. (1999). Dietary pro- and antioxidants: Effects on immune functions, disease resistance and antioxidant status in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. Dr. Scient. Dissertation, University of Bergen, Norway, pp 57 (and 5 articles).

Magnusson, J.; Næs, K.; Tangen, Karl (OCEANOR), Resipientundersøkelser av fjordområdet ved Flekkefjord 1986/87. Vannkvalitet, planteplankton, krom i sedimenter og blåskjell. NIVA-rapport 2071, 1988.

Mattilsynet (2007). Utkast til Forskrift om transport av akvakulturdyr. Høringsbrev 2007/10649 med vedlegg.

Markin, L. L., Mayer, P. P., 1985. Are better anesthetics needed in fisheries? Fisheries 10: 2-5.

Massabuau, J.-C. 2001. From low arterial- to low tissue-oxygenation strategy. An evolutionary theory. Respiration Physiology 128: 249–261.

Massee, K. C., Rust, M. B., Hardy, R. W. and Stickney, R. R. 1995. The effectivness of tricaine, quinaldine sulfate and metomidate as anesthetics for larval fish. Aquaculture 134: 351-359.

Mattson, N.S., Ripple, T.H. 1989. Metomidate, a better anesthetic for cod (*Gadus morhua*) in comparison with benzocaine, MS-222, chlorobutanol, and phenoxyethanol. Aquaculture 83: 89-94.

Maule, A. G., Tripp, R. A., Kaattari, S. L. and Schreck, C. B. 1989. Stress alters immune function and disease resistance in chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). J. Endocrinol. 120: 135-142.

Mazeaud, M. M. and Mazeaud, M. (1981). Adrenergic Responses to Stress in Fish. In Stress and fish. ed. Pickering, A. D., pp. 49-76. Academic press, London.

Mazik, P.M., Simci, B.A. and Parker, N.C. 1991. Influence on water hardness and salts on survival and physiological characteristics of striped bass during and after transport. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 120: 121-126.

McFarland, W.N. 1959. A study of the effects of anaesthetics on the behaviour and physiology of fishes. Publ. Inst. Mar. Sci., Univ. Tex. 6: 23-55.

Meiner, M., 2002. Pain, Its physiological effects in fish. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala

Merkins, J.C. and Downing, K.M. (1957). The effect of tension of dissolved oxygen on the toxicity of unionzed ammonia to several species of fish. Ann.Appl.Bil. 45:521-527.

Mommsen, T.P., Vijayan, M.M. and Moon, T.W., 1999. Cortisol in teleosts: dynamics, mechanisms of action, and metabolic regulation. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 9: 211-268.

Nikinmaa, M., Soivio, A., Nakari, T. and Lindgren, S. 1983. Hauling stress in brown trout (*Salmo trutta*): physiological responses to transport in fresh water or salt water, and recovery in natural brackish water. Aquaculture 34: 93-99.

Nilssen, K. J., Einarsdóttir, I. E. and Iversen, M. 1996. Metomidate anaesthesia in Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus* L): Efficacy and changes in cortisol, glucose and lactate levels. In: Einarsdóttir, I. E. Production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). A study of some physiological and immunological responses to rearing routines. PhD-thesis, NTNU, Trondheim, Norway.

Oka, H., Ohno, K. and Niniomiya, J. (1990). Changes in texture during cold storage of cultured Yellowtail meatprepared by different killing methods. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 56, 1673-1678.

Olsen, Y.A., Einarsdottir, I.E. and Nilssen, K.J. 1995. Metomidate anaesthesia in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, prevents plasma cortisol increase during stress. Aquaculture 134: 155-168.

Olsen, Y. A. (1993). Decreasing water level and handling as stressors in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, L.: Time-course changes in cortisol, glucose and lactate plasma levels. In Cortisol dynamics in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. : Basal and stressor-induced variations in plasma levels and some secondary effects. A Dr. Scient thesis, vol. paper 1. ed. Olsen, Y., pp. 1-12. University of Trondheim, Department of Zoology, Trondheim.

Oppo, C; Bellandi, S; Innocenti, ND; Stortini, AM; Loglio, G; Schiavuta, E; Cini, R. Surfactant components of marine organic matter as agents for biogeochemical fractionation and pollutant transport via marine aerosols. Marine Chemistry, 1999, 63 (3-4), 235-253.

Peltzer, RD; Griffin, OM. Stability of a 3-dimensional foam layer in seawatr. J. Geophys. Res.-Oceans, 1988, 93 (C9), 10804-10812. Paterson, B.D., M.A. Rimmer, G.M. Meikle and G.L. Semmens. 2003. Physiological responses of the Asian sea bass, Lates calcarifer to water quality deterioration during simulated live transport: acidosis, red-cell swelling, and levels of ions and ammonia in the plasma. Aquaculture 218: 717-728.

Perez-Casanova, J.C., Afonso, L.O.B., Johnson, S.C., Currie, S. and Gamperl, A.K. The stress and metabolic responses of juvenile Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua* L. to an acute thermal challenge. J. Fish. Biol. 72 : 899-916.

Person-Le Ruyet J., Lamers A., Le Roux A., Severe A., Boeuf G. and Mayer-Gostan N. 2003. Long-term ammonia exposure of turbot: effects on plasma parameters. J. Fish Biol. 62, 879-894.

Petri, D. (2003) Ein Beitrag zum Hungermetabolismus von Fischen – ein Speziesvergleich -. Diss. Med. Vet., Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Leipzig, Germany.

Pickering, A.D. (ed) 1981. Stress and fish. Academic Press, New York, 367 pp.

Pickering, A. D. 1989. Factors affecting the susceptibility of salmon fish to disease. Fifty-seventh Annual Report. The Freshwater Biological Association, Ambleside: 61-80.

Pickering, A. D. (1992). Rainbow trout husbandry: management of the stress response. Aquaculture 100, 125-139

Portz, D.E., Woodley, C.M. and Cech, J.J.Jr. 2006. Stress-associated impacts of short-term holding on fishes. Rev. Fish. Biol. Fisheries 16: 125-170.

Pottinger, T.G., M. Rand-Weaver and J.P. Sumpter (2003). Overwinter fasting and refeeding in rainbow trout: plasma growth hormone and cortisol levels in relation to energy mobilisation. Comp.

Pottinger, T. G. (1995). Fish welfare literature review. In Prepared for the angeling governing bodies liaison group and the british field sports society, pp. 83. The institute of freshwater ecology, Ambleside.

Pottinger, T. G., Pickering, A. D. and Hurley, M. A. (1992). Consistency in the stress response of induviduals of two strains of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquaculture 103, 275-289.

Rao, M.M (1971). Influence of activity and salinity on the weight depended oxygen consumption of the rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Marin Biology 8, 205 – 212.

Biochem Physiol. 136B, 403-417.

Redding, J. M., Schreck, C. B. 1983. Influence of ambient salinity on osmoregulation and cortisol concentration in yearling coho salmon during stress. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 112: 800-807.

Reuss, J.O., Johnson, D.W. 1986. Acid depositions and the acidifications of Sils and Waters. Ecological Studies. Springer Verlag, New Y| σrk .

Robb, D. H. F. and Kestin, S. C. (2002). Methods used to kill fish: Field observations and literature reviewed. Animal Welfare 11, 269-282.

Robb, D. H. F., Wotton, S. B., Mckinstry, J. L., K., S. N. and Kestin, S. C. (2000). Commersial slaughter methods used on Atlantic salmon: determination of the onset of brain failure by electroencephalography. The Veterinary Record 147, 298-303.

Roberts J.O. (1990). Energy-dense feeds helps the environment. Fish Farmer 7, 50-51.

Robertson, L., Thomas, P. and Arnold, C. R. 1987. Plasma cortisol and secondary stress responses of cultured red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) to several transportation procedures. Aquaculture 68: 115-130.

Roth, B. (1997). Use of electricity as an anaesthetic within the slaughtering process of Atlantic salmon 1997. University of Bergen.

Rose, J. D. (2002). The neurobehavioral nature of fishes and the question of awareness and pain. Reviews in Fisheries Science 10, 1-38.

Rohn, T. T., Hinds, T. R. and Vincenzi, F. F., 1996. Inhibition of Ca2+-Pump ATPase and the Na+/K+-Pump ATPase by Iron-Generated Free Radicals Protection by 6,7-dimethyl-2,4-di-L-Pyrrolidinyl-7h-Pyrrolo[2,3-~Ipyrimidine Sulfate (U-89843~), A Potent, Novel, Antioxidant/Free Radical Scavenger. Biochem. Pharmacol., 51, 471-476.

Ross, L.G. and Ross, B. 1999. Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. Second edition, Blackwell Science, UK, London, 159 pp.

Ross, L.G. and Ross, B. 1999. Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. Second edition, Blackwell Science, UK, London, 159 pp.

Rosseland, B.O. 2007. Økotoksikologiens plass i naturforvaltning. Årsmelding 2006. Institutt for naturforvaltning. Universitetet for miljø- og biovitenskap, s. 15 – 18, (http://www.umb.no/index.php?viewID=12649)

Rosseland, B.O., Salbu, B., Kroglund, F., Hansen, T., Teien, H-C., Håvardstun, J., Åtland, Å., Østby, G., Kroglund, M., Kvellestad, A., Pettersen, O., Bjerknes, V., Wendelaar Bonga, S., van Ham, E.H., Lucassen, E., Berntssen, M.H.G. and Lohne, S. 1998. Changes in metal speciation in the interface between freshwater and seawater (estuaries), and the effects on Atlantic salmon and marine organisms. - Final Report to The Norwegian Research Council, Contract no. 108102/122.

Rosseland, B.O., Bjerknes, V., Guldberg, B., Håvardson, B., Kroglund, F., Kvellestad, A., Litlabø, A.,

Rosten, T., 2000. The evaluation of the cause of mortality during a 30h closed transport of smolt from Western Norway to Northern Norway, KPMG Centre for Aquaculture and Fisheries private client.

Rosten, T., Åtland, Å., Rosseland, B., Kristensen T., Braaten, B., 2004. Vannkvalitet og dyrevelferd. Utredning for Mattilsynet.

Rosten, T., Teien, H-C., Toften, H., Tørud, B. og Åtland, Å. 2007. Episoder med dårlig vannkvalitet som har ført til produksjonslidelser eller tap av fisk. I: Bjerknes, V., Liltved, H., Rosseland, B.O., Rosten, T., Skjelkvåle, B.L., Stefansson, S., og Åtland, Å. (red.) Vannkvalitet og smoltproduksjon, Kapittel 1, side 9-56, Juul forlag, ISBN 978-82-8090-018-0.

Rosten, T, Rosseland, B.O., Salbu, B., Olsvik, P. Steen, J.E., 2005. Documentation of fish welfare. Experiences and recommendation of fish transportation in open-, closed- and combined well boats transports. EAS conference Trondheim August.

Rosten, T., Olafsen. T., Myhr.E., Mejdell, C., Braaten, B., Rosseland, B., 2007a. Dyrevelferd i Akvatisk dyrehold – herunder fremtidens dyrehold. Utredning for Mattilsynet. NIVA rapport 5469-2007. ISBN nr 978-82-577-5204-0.

Rosten, T., Åtland, Å., Rosseland, B., Kristensen T., Braaten, B., 2004. Vannkvalitet og dyrevelferd. Utredning for Mattilsynet.

Rosten, T., Olafsen, T., Aarland, R., 2002. Logistikk innen havbruksnæringen i Trøndelag. Utredning for Nord- og Sør Trøndelag Fylkeskommune. KPMG.

Rosten T., Kristensen, T., Rosseland B.O., Grøttum J.A. (2007b). Transport av levende fisk. (In: Vannkvalitet og smoltproduksjon ed. by V. Bjerknes) Juul forlag. Norway.

Rosten, T., Urke, H.A., Åtland, Å., Kristensen, T. og Rosseland, B.O. 2007c. Sentrale drifts- og vannkvalitetsdata fra VL Laks – undersøkelsene fra 1999 – 2006. NIVA Rapport, Lnr. 5352-2007, 16 s. ISBN 82-577-4918-4.

Ruane, N,M., Nolan, D.T., Rotllant, J., Tort, L., Balm, P.H.M. and Wendelaar Bonga, S.E. 1999. Modulation of the response of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) to confinement, by actoparasite (*Argulus foliaceus* L) infestation and cortisol feeding. Fish. Physiol. Biochem. 20: 43-51.

Sandodden, R., Finstad, B. and Iversen, M. 2001. Transport stress in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.): anaesthesia and recovery. Aquacult. Res. 32: 87-90.

Schreck, C.B. 1982. Stress and rearing of salmonids. Aquaculture 28: 241-249.

Schreck, C. B., Solazzi, M., F., Johnson, S. L. and Nickelson, T. E. 1989. Transportation stress affects performance of Coho Salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*. Aquaculture 82: 15-20.

Schreck, C. B., Maule, A. G. and Kaattari, S. L. 1993. Stress and disease resistance. In: Roberts, R.J. and Muir, J.F. (Eds.), Recent Advances in Aquaculture, IV. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, 170-175.

Selye, H. 1950. Stress and the general adaptation syndrome. British Med. J. 1: 1383-1392.

Selye, H. 1973. Homeostasis and heterostasis. Perspec. Biol. Med. 16: 441-445.

Shahidi, F., and J.R. Botta. 1994. Seafoods: Chemistry, Processing Technology and Quality. Blackie Academic Press, London.

Sigholt, T. and Finstad, B. (1990). Effect of low temperature on sea-water tolerance in Atlantic salmon

(Salmo salar) smolts. Aquaculture 84: 167-172.

Sigholt, T., Erikson, U., Rustad, T., Johansen, S., Nordtvedt, T. S. and Seland, A. (1997). Handling stress and storage temperature affect meat quality of farmed raised Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar). Journal of Food Science.

Sigholt, T., Rustad, T., Johansen, S., Erikson, U., Nordtvedt, T. S. and Seland, A. (1995). Transport-og slaktestress, effekt på kjøttvalitet og holdbarhet hos laks. Sintef Teknisk Kjemi.

Slauenwhite, DE, Johnson, BD. Efceans, 1996, 101 3769-3774. fect of organic matter on bubble surface tension. J. Geophys. Res.-O

Small, B. 2004. Effect of isoeugenol sedation on plasma cortisol, glucose, and lactate dynamics in channe catfish *Ictalurus punctatus* exposed to three stressors. Aquaculture 238: 469-481.

Smart, G. 1978. Investigations of the toxic mechanisms of ammonia to fish-gas exchange in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) exposed to acutely lethal concentrations. J. Fish. Biol. 12, 93-104.

Smart G. (1981). Aspects of water quality producing stress in intensive fish farming. (In: Stress and Fish. Ed by. A.D. Pickering), pp 277-293. Academic Press, London.

Sneddon, L. U. (2002). Anatomical and electrophysiological analysis of the trigeminal nerve in a teleost fish, Onchorhynchus mykiss. Neuroscience letters 319, 167-171.

Sneddon, L. U. (2003a). The evidence for pain in fish: the use of morphine as an analgesic. Applied Annimal Behaviour Science 83, 153-162.

Sneddon, L. U. (2003b). Trigeminal somatosensory innervation of the head of a teleost fish with particular reference to nociception. Brain Research 972, 44-52.

Sneddon, L. U. (2004). Pain Perception in Fish. Fish Farmer 27, 8-10.

Sneddon, L. U., Braithwaite, V. A. and Gentle, M. J. (2003). Novel Object Test:Examining Nociception and Fear in the rainbow Trout. The Journal of Pain 4, 431-440.

Specker, J. L. and Schreck, C. B. 1980. Stress responses to transportation and fitness for marine survival in coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) smolts. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 37: 765-769.

Staurnes, M., Sigholt, T., Pedersen, H.P. and Rustad, T. 1994. Physiological-effects of simulated highdensity transport of Atlantic cod (*Gadhus morhua*). Aquaculture 119: 381-391.

Staurnes, M., Nordtvedt, R. and Rosseland, B.O. 1998. Vannkvalitet. (Water quality). Pp 87-113 in: Hansen, T. (ed.) Oppdrett av laksesmolt. (Production of Atlantic salmon smolt). Landbruksforlaget, ISBN 82-529-1722-4.

Staurnes, M., T. Sigholt, H.P. Pedersen, and T. Rustad. 1994a. Physiological effects of simulated highdensity transport of Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua). Aquaculture 119:381-391.

Staurnes, M., Rainuzzo, J.R., Sigholt, T., and Jørgensen, L. 1994b. Acclimation of Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) to cold water: Stress response, osmoregulation, gill lipid composition and gill Na-K-ATPase activity. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 109A: 413-421.

Staurnes, M., Sigholt, T., Pedersen, H.Å., and Rustad, T. 1994b. Physiological effects of simulated high-density transport of Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) Aquaculture, 119: 381-391.

Stien, L.H., Hirmas, E., Bjørnevik, M., Karlsen, Ø., Nortvedt, R., Bencze Rørå, A-M., Sunde, Jan. and Kiessling, A. 2005 The effects of stress and storage temperature on the colour and texture of prerigor filleted farmed cod (Gadus morhua L.) Aquaculture Research. vol 36: 1197-1206.

Staurnes M. 2001. Differences between Atlantic halibut (Hippoglossus hippoglossus L) and turbot (Scophthalmus maximus L) in tolerance to acute low temperature exposure. Aq. Res. 32, 251-255.

Stefansson, S., Bjerknes, V. Bjørn, P.A., Bæverfjord, G., Finn, R.N., Finstad, B., Fivelstad, S., Handeland, S., Hosfeld, C.D., Kristensen, T., Kroglund, F., Nilsen, T., Rosseland, B.O., Rosten, T., Salbu, B., Teien, H-C., Toften, H. og Åtland, Å. 2007. Fysiologiske egenskaper ved rogn, yngel og smolt. I: Bjerknes, V., Liltved, H., Rosseland, B.O., Rosten, T., Skjelkvåle, B.L., Stefansson, S., og Åtland, Å. (red.) Vannkvalitet og smoltproduksjon, Kapittel 3, side 94-124, Juul forlag, ISBN 978-82-8090-018-0.

Stumm, W. and Morgan, J.J. 1996. Aquatic Chemistry. 3rd edition. John Wiley and Sons, New York 1022p.

Summerfeldt, R.C. and Smith, L.S. 1990. Anaesthesia, surgery, and related texhniques. In: Schreck, C.B. and Moyle, P.B. (Eds.). Methods for Fish Biology. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD, pp. 213-272.

Sundnes, G. 1957b. On the transport of live cod and coalfish. J. Conseil. 22: 191-196.

Sunde, J., Kiessling, A., Higgs, D., Opstvedt, J., Venturini, G. and Rungruangsak-Torrissen, K. 2003. Evaluation of feed protein quality by measuring plasma free amino acids in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) after dorsal aorta cannulation. Aquaculture Nutrition 9:351-360.

Teien, H-C. 2005. Transformation of Aluminium Species in Unstable Aquatic Mixing Zones – Mobility and Bioavailability towards Fish. Dr. Philos Thesis, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway. ISBN 82-575-0665-6.

Sverdrup, A. (1994). The role of the vascular endothelium and the endocrine heart on vasoactivity in arteries of two teleosts. In Department of Physiology. University of Bergen.

Sverdrup, A., Kjellsby, E., Krüger, P. G., Fløysand, R., Knudsen, F. R., Enger, P. S., Serck-Hansen, G. and Helle, K. B. (1994c). Effects of experimental seismic shock on vasoactivity of arteries, integrity of the vascular endothelium and on primary stress hormones of the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Journal of Fish Biology 45, 973-995.

Thomas, P. and Robertson, L. 1991. Plasma cortisol and glucose stress responses of red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) to handling and shallow water stressors and anesthesia with MS-222, quinaldine sulfate and metomidate. Aquaculture 96: 69-86.

Timmons, M.B., Ebeling, J.M., Wheaton, F.W., Summerfeldt, S.T. and Winci, B.J. 2002. Recirculating aquaculture systems, 2nd ed. Cayuga Aqua Ventures, Ithaca, NY, 769 pp.

Tort, L., Puigcerver, M., Crespo, S. and Padros, F. 2002. Cortisol and haematological response in sea bream and trout subjected to the anaesthetics clove oil and 2-phenoxyethanol. Aquacult. Res. 33: 907-910.

U. S. EPA 1985. Ambient water quality criteria for ammonia-1984 EPA 440/5-85-001, Office of

Vogt, NB. Havoverflatens mikrolag. Naturen, 1982, 5/6, 181-190.

Water Regulations and Standards Division, Washington D.C.

U.S. EPA 1990. Ambient water quality criteria for ammonia (saltwater)-1989 EPA 440/5-88-004, Office of Water Regulations and Standards Division, Washington D.C.

Van de Vis, H., Kestin, S. C., Robb, D. H. F., Oelenschläger, J., Lambooij, B., Münkner, W., Kuhlmann, H., Kloosterboer, K., Tejada, M., Huidobro, A., Otterå, H., Roth, B., Sørensen, N. K.,

Akse, L., Byrne, H. and Nesvadba, P. 2003. Is humane slaughter of fish possible for industry? Aquaculture Research 34, 211-220

Whitey K.G. and Saunders R.L. 1973. Effect of reciprocal photoperiod regime on standard rate of oxygen consumption of postsmolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Journ.of Fish. Res. Borad of Canada 30 8129, 1891 – 1900.

Wedemeyer, G.A. 1996a. Physiology of fish in intensive culture systems. Chapman and Hall, New York, 232 pp.

Wedemeyer, G.A. 1996b. Transport and handling. In: Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries science, volume 20. (ed. by W. Pennel and B.A. Barton. Elsevier Science

Wedemeyer, G.A. 1997. Effects on rearing conditions on the health and physiology quality of fish in intensive culture. In: Iwama, G.K., Pickering, A.D., Sumpter, J.P. and Schreck, C.B. (Eds.), Fish Stress and Health in Aquaculture. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 35-71.

Weissenborn, PK; Pugh, RJ. Surface tension of aqueous solutions of electrolytes: Relationship with ion hydration, oxygen solubility, and bubble coalescence. J. Coll. Interface. Sci, 1996, 184 (2), 550-563.

Wendelaar Bonga, S.E. 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiol. Rev. 77: 591-625.

Wolfrom, T. (2004). Farmed fish and welfare. European commission, Directorate-general for fisheries. Research and Scientific unit.

Zhou, B. S., Wu, R.S.S. Randall, D.J. and Lam, P.K.S. 2001. Bioenergetics and RNA/DNA ratios in the common carp (Cyprinus carpio) under hypoxia. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 171, 49-57.

Yoshikawa, H., F. Kawai and M. Kanamori 1994. The relationship between the EEG and brain pH in carp, Cyprinus carpio, subjected to environmental hypercapnia at an anesthetic level. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 107A, 307–312.

Øverli, Ø., Pottinger, T. G., Carrick, T. R., Øverli, E. and Winberg, S. 2002. Differences in behaviour between rainbow trout selected for

Åtland, Å., Bæverfjors, G., Heier, L.S., Rosseland, B.O. og Rosten, T. 2007. Vannkvalitet i norske settefiskanlegg. Problem og tiltaksvurdering. . I: Bjerknes, V. (red.) Vannkvalitet og smoltprodusjon, Kapittel 4, side 125-158, Juul forlag, ISBN 978-82-8090-018-0.

11. Appendix I

11.1.1 OWI - Physiology

- 1. Nourishment
 - 1.1. Deprivation from food before transport reduces risk of mortality during transport and handling.
- 2. Changes in respiration
 - 2.1. Increase in respiration is linked to stress or adverse water quality; decrease in respiration is linked to water quality in transport water. Changes in respiration are also linked to the current / swimming speed in the transport container.
 - 2.2. Experience shows that observation of respiration rate is possible by using underwater videocameras (see figure X)
- 3. Ability to maintain osmoregulation
 - 3.1. Fish are tolerant to high or low salinity within limited borders depends upon live history stage and or species. The water quality before, under and after transport is relevant.
 - 3.2. In a closed transport, there might be limited possibility to change salinity
- 4. Changes in body color
 - 4.1. From practical farming and live fish transport, colour changes of the fish might indicate stress or mal-adjustments.

11.1.2 OWI - Behaviour

- 5. Changes in feeding response and appetite
 - 5.1. It is normally taken as a good sign that transported fish regain their appetite and feeding behaviour shortly after a transport.
- 6. Changes in swimming pattern
 - 6.1. This is by operators normally taken as an indicator of the condition of the fish during transport, e.g.: the ability to maintain balance and position in the transport container.
 - 6.2. Might be observed by underwater video cameras.
- 7. Agressivity and/or cannibalism
 - 7.1. To our knowledge, although not reported in transport, occurrence of aggressive behaviour or cannibalism might be and indicator of stress after transport in combination with deprivation of food

11.1.3 OWI - Health

8. Mortality

8.1. This is the classical and most used parameter to evaluate the fitness of a transport9. Deformities

9. Deformities 9.1 Not in question as fai

9.1. Not in question as far as we know, but fish with deformities might be less fit for transport.

- 10. Gill tissue changes
 - 10.1. Unspecific gill disease with inflammation, excess mucus secretion, necrosis or apoptosis might occurred as a reaction to adverse water quality during transport, caused either by hyper oxygenation, high concentration of NH₃ or estuarine mixing zone water (Al depositions)
- 11. Wounds
 - 11.1. Wounds can occur as a consequence infectious disease, mucus and skin injures during loading, transport and unloading. Design and use of equipment, fish density and rough weather are the most likely causes of skin injuries and must be taken into account during evaluation of the suitability of the transport vessel.
 - 11.2. It is important to avoid wounds both in open and closed transport, since wounds might affect the fitness of the fish before transport
- 12. Infectious diseases

- 12.1. The outbreak of an infectious disease will strongly reduce the fitness of the fish. The severity depends on the nature of the fish.
- 12.2. Stress during loading and transport might suppress the immunosystem, leading to increasing risk for outbreak of disease.
- 12.3. Closed transport system is often used when the fish is sick, with the aim of preventing spread of fish disease. Since a fish disease will affect the fitness of the fish, special attention should be drawn to this practice.
- 12.4. The use of a closed transport system might in one side lower the risk for spreading fish diseases (in the case where the fish cargo is infectious). On the other side, there is also a risk for contamination from infectious agens still in transport system (due to insufficient or faulty wash and disinfection from previous cargo(s).
- 13. Parasites
 - 13.1. The spreading of *Gyrodactylus salaris* to the Norwegian River Skibotn was probably water exchange from a truck carrying trout.
 - 13.2. High infection rate of sea lice shortly after transport to sea might indicate a reduced immunity caused by multiple stressors like exposure to adverse water quality conditions prior to and/or during transport and the stress from transport itself.

11.1.4 OWI - Operation

- 14. Protection against predators
 - 14.1. Compared to towing of open nets with tuna fish, with the risk of shark attacks, will a transport in side a well boat or truck offer protection against predators. Besides this, this is not in question.
- 15. Anaesthetization and slaughtering
 - 15.1. In closed systems with large salmon, there is established a practice of letting the fish get sedated during transport due to mild self-induced hypercapnia, combined with gently lowering the water temperature and sufficient oxygen supply. Experience and field studies from Scottland confirm that this practise produce fish that is calm before killing. See chapter 7.7.1.
 - 15.2. Mild anaesthetization of the fish with a cortisol blocker added to the water is not common practise, but might lower the metabolism and / or lower the stress response associated with handling and transport.
- 16. Design of equipment
 - 16.1. This is very important in the context of offering condition suitable for fish welfare. Experience and field studies (Rosten et al, 2006) show that oxygen supply, carbon dioxide degassers are necessary to carry out a closed transport. In addition, an ability to control water temperature and unload fish with high water stand in the well (that is: moving bulkhead).

12. Appendix II

An in-house ethical guide for transport of flat fishes derived from the industry (Dr. J. Stoss, pers. comm..) include following considerations:

- **1.** *Sorting;* Sorting (grading) by size should be done about a week prior to transport to avoid aggression during pre-transport starvation.
- 2. *Vaccination or prophylactic treatments* against ectoparasites should be completed in due time before transport to prevent development transport injuries or wounds, and outbreak of diseases after transport.
- 3. *Juvenile fish should be kept starving* for several days prior to transportation. Ten gram juveniles should be fasted for 2-4 days; shorter period at elevated temperatures >15 °C, and longer at lower temperatures. While the gastrointestinal tract should be completely emptied, care should be taken to prevent degradation of somatic tissues. The aim with starvation is to ensure acceptable water quality during the transport prevent excess faeces and reduce the requirement for oxygen.
- 4. Temperature reduction. The temperature should be gradually reduced under the starvation period and kept low during transportation. This can be problematic, especially during long term transport. Transports can still be done without temperature control but one needs to consider possible temperature effects which might develop during transport (depending on duration of transport and ambient temperatures). To prevent problems, fish densities during transports can be reduced. In certain instances (long term transport over 1-3 days and rather high or low ambient temperatures) transports have to be postponed. It is difficult and probably not convenient to recommend optimal transport temperatures, since this depends on ambient rearing temperature. Atlantic halibut juveniles reared at 15 °C, can be transported successfully at 8 °C, while 2 °C represents thermal stress (Staurnes 2001). The main point is to reduce the temperature gradually to a temperature relative to the ambient.
- 5. *Temperature increase*. At receiving site, the fish will be transferred to water with elevated temperatures than in the transport. This is considered unproblematic as long as the temperature is kept below the normal temperature range of the species.
- 6. *Temperature fluctuations.* Expected temperature under long distance transportation may vary with the weather situation, and should be carefully evaluated and planned to prevent mortalities. Small water volumes and thin cage insulation may allow the water to reach critical temperatures depending on ambient temperature in the area receiving the fish; for example transportation in summer to China (> 30 °C) with extended transport periods (20-30 hrs) after landing. Likewise, open transports on truck or boat to and from South Europe, may experience high temperature fluctuations. It is therefore of great importance to plan the transport and include temperature control.
- 7. Optimal *water oxygen level* should be secured under the transport (150 % is acceptable), while super saturation (>200 %) should be avoided. The ventilation frequency is regulated by water oxygen saturation and physiological status. Accordingly, increased ventilation is observed at declining water oxygen and increased metabolism, stress, gill diseases etc.
- 8. Water buffering/CO₂ removal should be considered in all long transports (Grøttum et al 1997). High carbondioxide values cause hypercapnia, suffering and losses. Seawater pH should not decline to below 7. In closed transport units (for example plastic bags with oxygen atmosphere, a buffer should be added (for ex Tris buffer). In open units, like large tanks on trucks or boat should be equipped with ventilation, which effectively removes CO₂; here no extra buffer is needed.

Transportation without water. It is possible to transport turbot (fish without scales; i.e. not halibut) in a moisture environment without water, however with temperature control. This is normally used in long distance air transport where the transport weight is of major importance. While this is acknowledged as an acceptable way of transportation, there is no described procedure for such transport available.